
 
 

Revised Downtown Investment Authority  
 Agenda 

 

Hybrid Virtual In-Person Meeting 
Wednesday, August 18th at 2:00 p.m.  

MEMBERS: 
Braxton Gillam, Esq., Chairman     Ron Moody, Board Member   
Carol Worsham, Vice Chairman     Todd Froats, Board Member 
Jim Citrano, Secretary       Craig Gibbs, Esq., Board Member 
Bill Adams, Esq., Board Member       
 
BOARD MEMBERS EXCUSED: David Ward, Esq. and Oliver Barakat 

 
I. CALL TO ORDER 
 
II. PUBLIC COMMENTS* 
 
III. COMMUNITY REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY 

A. July 29, 2021 Community Redevelopment Agency Meeting Minutes 
B. Resolution 2021-08-01: Morris 
C. Resolution 2021-08-03: SRX 50 Seats 
D. Resolution 2021-08-04: NB TID Investment Pool Earnings 
E. Resolution 2021-08-05: NB TID 20-21 Budget Amendment 
F. Resolution 2021-08-06: SS TID Investment Pool Earnings 
G. Resolution 2021-08-07: SS TID 20-21 Budget Amendment 
H. Resolution 2021-08-08: SS TID 20-21 Budget Amendment 
I. Resolution 2021-08-09: Termination of ISP-0307-20 
J. Resolution 2021-08-11: Disposition Terms 220 Bay Deferred 
K. Resolution 2021-08-12: Porter House Mansion Late Addition 

 
IV. DOWNTOWN INVESTMENT AUTHORITY 

A. July 29, 2021 Downtown Investment Authority Board Meeting Minutes 
B. Resolution 2021-08-13: Craig Gibbs Recognition and Appreciation Late Addition 
C. Resolution 2021-08-14: Ron Moody Recognition and Appreciation Late Addition 

 
V. NEW BUSINESS 
 
VI. CEO INFORMATIONAL BRIEFING 

 
VII. CHAIRMAN REPORT 

A. Speakers Bureau Public Workshop – August 25th 4:00 P.M. (tentative) 
 

VII. ADJOURN 
 
*Only individuals attending the meeting in-person will have an opportunity to provide public comments. Persons who cannot attend the meeting in-
person, but who wish to submit public comments regarding any matter on the agenda for consideration at the meeting, may do so by sending their 
public comments via electronic mail to DIAPublicComments@coj.net prior to the start of the meeting.  Public comments received prior to the 
meeting will not be read during the meeting but will instead be forwarded to all DIA Board members for review in advance of the meeting and will 
remain a part of the permanent record for the meeting itself.  You are encouraged to submit public comments well in advance of the start of the 
meeting to provide DIA Board members with adequate time to read them in preparation for the meeting. 



 
2 | P a g e  
Downtown Investment Authority Agenda  
Wednesday, August 18th, 2021 
 
 
PHYSICAL LOCATION 
City Hall at St. James 
117 West Duval Street 
First Floor, Lynwood Roberts Room   
Jacksonville, FL 32202 
 
Visitors are encouraged not to enter City owned public buildings if they have: symptoms of COVID-19, a fever of 100.4 
degrees Fahrenheit or higher, are currently undergoing evaluation for COVID-19 infection, a diagnosis of COVID-19 in the 
prior 10 days, or have had close contact with someone infected with COVID-19 during the prior 14 days.  Any member of 
the public entering City owned public building may choose to wear a mask inside the building.   
 
VIRTUAL LOCATION 

Interested persons desiring to attend this meeting virtually can do so via Zoom (including by computer or telephone) 
using the following meeting access information: 

Join Zoom Meeting 
https://zoom.us/j/94074017448?pwd=WklzbHNRRCt6cFBqL0M4YkNrMkxrQT09  
 
Meeting ID: 940 7401 7448 
Passcode: 642945 
 
One tap mobile 
+1 (301) 715-8592 (Washington D.C) 
+1 (312) 626-6799 US (Chicago) 
 
Find your local number: https://zoom.us/u/acIhApq5DJ  

https://zoom.us/j/94074017448?pwd=WklzbHNRRCt6cFBqL0M4YkNrMkxrQT09
https://zoom.us/j/94074017448?pwd=WklzbHNRRCt6cFBqL0M4YkNrMkxrQT09
https://zoom.us/u/acIhApq5DJ
https://zoom.us/u/acIhApq5DJ


TAB III.A 

JULY 29, 2021 COMMUNITY REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY  
MEETING MINUTES 



 

Downtown Investment Authority 
Hybrid Meeting 

Thursday, July 29, 2021 – 2:00 p.m. 

Community Redevelopment Agency 
  MEETING MINUTES 
 
DIA Board Members: Braxton Gillam, Esq., Chairman; Jim Citrano, Secretary; Oliver Barakat; 
Craig Gibbs, Esq.; Bill Adams, Esq.; and David Ward, Esq. 
 
DIA Board Members Excused: Carol Worsham, Vice Chair  
 
Mayor’s Staff: None 
 
Council Members:  None 
 
DIA Staff: Lori Boyer, Chief Executive Officer; Steve Kelley, Director of Downtown Real Estate 
and Development; Guy Parola, Operations Manager; Lori Radcliffe-Meyers, Redevelopment 
Coordinator; Ina Mezini, Communication and Marketing Specialist; John Crescimbeni, Contract and 
Regulatory Compliance Manager; and Xzavier Chisholm, Administrative Assistant. 
 
Office of General Counsel: Joelle Dillard, Esq.  
 
I. CALL TO ORDER  

 
Chairman Gillam called the CRA Board Meeting to order at 2:00 p.m. 
Chairman Gillam announced each DIA Board Member and DIA staff present. 
 
II. PUBLIC COMMENTS 
 
Chairman Gillam opened the floor to public comment. 
The following persons made in-person public comments, made public comments virtually through 
Zoom, or provided comments that were read into the record by DIA Staff. Note: the subject matter of 
the comment(s) indicated to the right of each person: 
 
Carnell Oliver Urged More Economic Opportunities For Minorities 
John Nooney Kayak Launch; Downtown Development 
Susan Caven Riverfront Development; Supports MOSH relocation 
Nancy Powell Riverfront Development; Riverfront Plaza Design 
Ginny Myrick Cathedral District Update 
 
 
III. COMMUNITY REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY MEETING   
 
A. JUNE 16, 2021 COMMUNITY REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY MEETING MINUTES 



Downtown Investment Authority 
CRA Meeting Minutes – Thursday, July 29, 2021 at 2:00 p.m.   
Page 2 of 6 

Having called for corrections or other edits by his fellow board members and after receiving none, 
Chairman Gillam asked for a motion and second on the item.  

 
Motion:  Board Member Moody moved to approve the minutes as presented 
Seconded:  Board Member Gibbs seconded the motion 
 
Vote:  Aye: 8  Nay: 0  Abstain: 0 

 
THE MOTION PASSED UNANIMOUSLY 8-0-0. 
 
B. JULY 7, 2021 COMMUNITY REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY MEETING MINUTES 
 
Chairman Gillam called for corrections or other edits by his fellow board members. 
 

Motion:  Board Member Moody moved to approve the minutes as presented 
Seconded:  Board Member Gibbs seconded the motion 

 
Board Member Froats proposed an edit to clarify his remarks regarding the level of interest in private 
development downtown from the July 7, 2021 DIA meeting. 
 
 Motion: Board Member Froats moved to amend the July 7, 2021 CRA meeting minutes 

Seconded:  Board Member Moody seconded the motion 
 
Chairman Gillam called for a vote. 
 

Vote:  Aye: 8  Nay: 0  Abstain: 0 
 
THE MOTION PASSED UNANIMOUSLY 8-0-0. 
 
C. RESOLUTION 2021-07-03: MOSH 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE DOWNTOWN INVESTMENT AUTHORITY (“DIA”) 
INSTRUCTING ITS CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER (“CEO”) TO ENTER INTO 
NEGOTIATIONS WITH THE MUSEUM OF SCIENCE AND HISTORY 
(“MOSH”) REGARDING THE POTENTIAL DISPOSITION OF A CIVIC 
ATTRACTION SITE IN THE SHIPYARDS PARCEL OF THE NORTHBANK IN 
ACCORDANCE WITH THE NEGOTIATED DISPOSTION PROCEDURE 
ADOPTED BY DIA; FINDNG THAT A CIVIC ATTRACTION IS A DESIRABLE 
USE IN THIS LOCATION AND IS CONSISTENT WITH THE DIA’S HOLISTIC 
VISION FOR REDEVELOPMENT OF THE WATERFRONT BETWEEN 
CATHERINE STREET AND METROPOLITAN PARK INCLUDING 
EXTENSIVE NEW PARK SPACE THAT WOULD BENEFITS FROM THE 
ACTIVATION PROVIDED BY A CIVIC ATTRACTION; PROVIDING FOR AN 
EFFECTIVE DATE. 



Downtown Investment Authority 
CRA Meeting Minutes – Thursday, July 29, 2021 at 2:00 p.m.   
Page 3 of 6 

 
Chairman Gillam gave the floor to CEO Boyer to introduce the Resolution. 

CEO Boyer provided a brief presentation of the Resolution, which expresses the general approval of 
the concept of MOSH’s relocation to Lot X in the Northbank area. The exact location and boundaries 
are still being determined. The Resolution permits DIA staff to continue working with MOSH 
regarding a potential disposition.  
Chairman Gillam called for a motion. 
 

Motion:  Board Member Gibbs moved to approve Resolution 2021-07-03 as presented 
Second: Board Member Moody seconded the motion 

 
Chairman Gillam called for discussion. 
Board Member Barakat noted that these negotiations have been well publicized. 
Board Member Citrano asked if the proposed site plan will be aligned with the DuPont study. CEO 
Boyer clarified that the parties involved are working collaboratively but that she does not know what 
the end result will be and noted that the Board will be made aware of the proposal when the DIA 
evaluates it as part of the Staff Report. 
Chairman Gillam called for a vote. 
 

Vote:  Aye: 8  Nay: 0  Abstain: 0 
 
THE MOTION PASSED UNANIMOUSLY 8-0-0. 
 
D. RESOLUTION 2021-07-04: LOFTS AT CATHEDRAL 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE DOWNTOWN INVESTMENT AUTHORITY 
SUPPORTING THE EXECUTION OF A REDEVELOPMENT AND INCENTIVE 
AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE DOWNTOWN INVESTMENT AUTHORITY 
AND VESTCOR, INC; AUTHORIZING THE CEO OF THE DOWNTOWN 
INVESTMENT AUTHORITY TO NEGOTIATE THE LOAN AGREEMENT; 
AND AUTHORIZING THE CEO OF THE DOWNTOWN INVESTMENT 
AUTHORITY TO EXECUTE SUCH DOCUMENTS AND AGREEMENTS; AND 
PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
Chairman Gillam gave the floor to Mr. Kelley to introduce the Resolution. 

Mr. Kelley provided a brief summary of the Resolution, which is a request for a development loan. 
The developer, Vestcor, Inc., focuses primarily on developing affordable and mixed-income housing 
using tax credits that are administered and awarded by the FHFC in a competitive process each year, 
the applications of which are structured to incorporate local government support loans which are 
further administered by the JHFA. The loan will be used in support of their application in the 
competitive funding round with JHFA. If successful, the developer will then proceed with the FHFC 
competitive bidding process. Mr. Kelley noted that if the developer is successful with the JHFA 



Downtown Investment Authority 
CRA Meeting Minutes – Thursday, July 29, 2021 at 2:00 p.m.   
Page 4 of 6 

competitive bidding process, they will return to the Board for a DPRP request, and that the proposed 
development loan is contingent upon the developer being selected as the winning applicant at the 
JHFA and FHFC levels. Ryan Hoover, president of TVC Development, is present for questions. 
Chairman Gillam gave the floor to Mr. Chisholm for a reading into the record of all Form 8Bs 
submitted by Board Members. 
Mr. Chisholm read a Form 8B into the record for Board Member Barakat for Resolution 2021-07-07. 
Mr. Chisholm read a Form 8B into the record for Board Member Barakat for Resolution 2021-07-05. 
Mr. Chisholm read a Form 8B into the record for Board Member Barakat for Resolution 2021-07-04. 
Mr. Chisholm read a Form 8B into the record for Board Member Citrano for Resolution 2021-07-04. 
Mr. Chisholm read a Form 8B into the record for Board Member Citrano for Resolution 2021-07-07. 
Mr. Chisholm read a Form 8B into the record for Board Member Moody for Resolution 2021-07-04. 
Mr. Chisholm read a Form 8B into the record for Board Member Gillam for Resolution 2021-07-04. 
Board Member Citrano asked for clarification on voting eligibility for an item in the DIA portion of 
the meeting that he has previously filed a voting conflict for. CEO Boyer responded that he will need 
to abstain from voting for that item. Joelle Dillard, of the Office of General Counsel, confirmed. 
Chairman Gillam asked for clarification regarding voting eligibility for the CRA portion of the 
meeting as it pertains to the disclosed voting conflicts. Mrs. Dillard confirmed that it does not create 
a voting conflict. 
CEO Boyer clarified that the funds referred to in the Resolution will come from CRA funds and that 
is why the Resolution is in the CRA portion of the meeting. 
 

Motion: Board Member Froats moved to approve Resolution 2021-07-04 as presented 
Second: Board Member Citrano seconded the motion 

 
Chairman Gillam opened the floor for discussion. 
Board Member Adams asked if there are, or have there ever been, any local employment requirements 
as a condition of the funds the DIA distributes. CEO Boyer responded that contracts typically have a 
JSEB requirement, but the DIA has never had a requirement for local contractors nor union 
contractors to her knowledge. CEO Boyer added that she is not aware of any ordinances that promote 
or restrict local contract requirements, but that DIA staff can conduct research to determine the 
legality. 
Board Member Gibbs stated that the developer has been a good partner with the City over the years 
and stated his support. 
Board Member Moody asked if there will be any changes to what the Board is voting on today if the 
developer is only able to build 100 of the proposed 120 units due to parking. Mr. Kelley responded 
that it would not change the agreement. Mr. Hoover added that they will be building the proposed 
120 units. 



Downtown Investment Authority 
CRA Meeting Minutes – Thursday, July 29, 2021 at 2:00 p.m.   
Page 5 of 6 

CEO Boyer clarified for Board Member Citrano that each project is looked at individually and more 
than one can meet the criteria for the loan match. They then use that incentive as their local match 
and go through the competitive bidding process at the JHFA level. Board Member Citrano stated his 
support. 
Board Member Barakat thanked the developer for preserving the historic features of the building and 
advocated for balance in the type of units the DIA delivers downtown. Board Member Barakat asked 
for clarification on the source of the funds. CEO Boyer stated that there is a program funding budget 
that is already in place. The funds have been allocated from prior years and would not require new 
funds from next year’s budget. The loan will be repaid into the Northbank tax increment district. 
Board Member Froats expressed his support and asked what the account balance is. CEO Boyer 
responded that she was unsure of the exact amount but reiterated that there is more than enough to 
cover the loan. 
Chairman Gillam called for a vote. 
 

Vote:  Aye: 8  Nay: 0  Abstain: 0 
 
THE MOTION PASSED UNANIMOUSLY 8-0-0. 
 
E. RESOLUTION 2021-07-07: JOHNSON COMMONS 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE DOWNTOWN INVESTMENT AUTHORITY (“DIA”) 
MODIFYING THE CLOSING DATE CONTAINED IN THE TERM SHEET 
AUTHORIZED IN RESOLUTION 2021-03-02 AND TO BE INCORPORATED IN 
THE REDEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT BETWEEN JOHNSON COMMONS, 
LLC (THE “DEVELOPER”); THE CITY OF JACKSONVILLE AND DIA; 
AUTHORIZING THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER TO EXECUTE THE 
CONTRACTS AND DOCUMENTS AND OTHERWISE TAKE ALL 
NECESSARY ACTION IN CONNECTION THEREWITH TO EFFECTUATE 
THE PURPOSES OF THIS RESOLUTION; PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE 
DATE. 
 

Chairman Gillam gave the floor to CEO Boyer to introduce the Resolution. 
CEO Boyer provided a brief overview of the Resolution, which is a 2-month extension of the outside 
closing date. Some of the previously agreed upon deadlines are no longer feasible, which stems in 
part from a backlog of previously approved projects that were ahead in the line. Legislation is 
expected to be through City Council in October. 
 

Motion: Board Member Gibbs moved to approve Resolution 2021-07-07 as presented 
Second: Board Member Moody seconded the motion 

 
Chairman Gillam opened the floor for discussion. 
Seeing none, Chairman Gillam called for a vote. 
 



Downtown Investment Authority 
CRA Meeting Minutes – Thursday, July 29, 2021 at 2:00 p.m.   
Page 6 of 6 

Vote:  Aye: 8  Nay: 0  Abstain: 0 
 
THE MOTION PASSED UNANIMOUSLY 8-0-0. 
 
ADJOURNMENT: The Community Redevelopment Agency proceedings are adjourned at 2:46 
p.m.  

 
 

The written minutes for this meeting are only an overview of what was discussed.  For verbatim 
comments of this meeting, a recording is available upon request.  Please contact Xzavier Chisholm 

at xchisholm@coj.net to acquire a recording of the meeting.   

mailto:xchisholm@coj.net
mailto:xchisholm@coj.net


TAB III.B 

RESOLUTION 2021-08-01: MORRIS 
 



 

RESOLUTION 2021-08-01 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE DOWNTOWN INVESTMENT AUTHORITY 
APPROVING THE TERMS AND CONDITIONS, AS MORE FULLY 
IDENTIFIED IN EXHIBIT A, FOR THE REDEVELOPMENT OF DUVAL 
COUNTY TAX PARCEL NUMBER 088967 0000 (“PROPERTY”) BY 
FUQUA DEVELOPMENT, LLC (“DEVELOPER”), INCLUDING THE 
APPROVAL OF A MULTI-FAMILY RECAPTURED ENHANCED VALUE 
GRANT (“RESIDENTIAL REV GRANT”); APPROVAL OF A RETAIL 
RECAPTURED ENHANCED VALUE GRANT (“RETAIL REV GRANT”); 
APPROVAL OF A MIXED-USE RECAPTURED ENHANCED VALUE 
GRANT (“MIXED-USE REV GRANT”); APPROVAL OF A COMPLETION 
GRANT; AUTHORIZING THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER (THE 
“CEO”) TO NEGOTIATE A REDEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
PURSUANT TO EXHIBIT A TERMS AND CONDITIONS; 
RECOMMENDING THAT CITY COUNCIL APPROVE A 
REDEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT PURSUANT TO EXHIBIT A, TERMS 
AND CONDITIONS; RECOMMENDING THAT CITY COUNCIL 
VACATE APPROXIMATELY 0.12 ACRE OF RIGHT-OF-WAY AND 0.12 
ACRE OF DRAINAGE EASEMENT (“EASEMENT”); RECOMMENDING 
THAT CITY COUNCIL APPROVE THE PURCHASE OF 
APPROXIMATELY 4.6 ACRES OF UPLAND AND SUBMERGED LANDS 
FOR $6,040,680 TO FACILITATE WIDENING AND RELOCATION OF 
MCCOYS CREEK AND CREATION OF A NEW CITY PARK; 
AUTHORIZING ITS CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER TO TAKE ALL 
NECESSARY ACTION TO EFFECTUATE THE PURPOSES OF THIS 
RESOLUTION, INCLUDING BUT NOT LIMITED TO THE FILING OF 
LEGISLATION AND EXECUTION OF A REDEVELOPMENT 
AGREEMENT, PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENT, OR THEIR 
FUNCTIONAL EQUIVALENTS; PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE 
DATE. 
 

 WHEREAS, Fuqua Development, LLC, is under contract for the acquisition of property 
within the Combined North Bank Community Redevelopment Area, identified by Duval County 
Tax Parcel number 088967-0000 and commonly known as the “Morris Property” or the “Times-
Union Property”; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the DIA is the Community Redevelopment Agency for the Combined North 
Bank Community Redevelopment Area; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Developer proposes to redevelop the Property with multi-family 
residential, commercial-retail and mixed-use development; and 
 



Resolution 2021-08-01 
Page 2 of 4 
 

 
 

WHEREAS, redevelopment of the Property will result in a minimum private capital 
investment of approximately $163,360,000; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Developer has demonstrated a financial gap, and the DIA finds it in the 

public interest to utilize public funds to incentivize the minimum private capital investment of 
approximately $163,360,000. 

 
WHEREAS, the Downtown Investment Authority (“DIA”) is authorized per section 

55.108 Economic Development of the City Ordinance Code, to utilize the Tax Increment Finance 
District Trust Funds to foster the redevelopment of the Downtown Northbank Community 
Redevelopment Area; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Downtown Investment Authority (“DIA”) is authorized per section 

55.108(8)-(9)(b) Economic Development of the City Ordinance Code, to implement the BID Plan, 
grant final approval of redevelopment agreements, without further action of Council, in 
furtherance of the BID Plan; and 
 

WHEREAS, the proposed City of Jacksonville REV Grant incentives are a material 
factor in assisting the Developer in redeveloping the Property with approximately 380 multi-family 
residential units and approximately 48,000 square feet of commercial/retail; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City has concluded that a relocation and widening of McCoy’s Creek 

facilitates completion of the McCoy’s Creek flood control, creek restoration and resiliency project; 
and  

 
WHEREAS, DIA desires to expand public view and access corridors to and from the St. 

Johns River and provide additional park space along the Riverwalk; and 
 
WHEREAS, in order to facilitate the McCoy’s Creek project, the DIA recommends the 

purchase of approximately 4.6 acres of land. 
 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, by the Downtown Investment Authority: 
 
 Section 1. The DIA finds that the recitals set forth above are true and correct and are 
incorporated herein by this reference.   

 
Section 2.  The DIA hereby approves the terms and conditions included in Exhibit A, 

including incentives not to exceed $30,844,140 as follows: 
 

a. 20-year / 75% REV Grants not to exceed $28,419,169;  
b. A Completion Grant not to exceed $1,719,320;  
c. Dedication of City rights-of-way deemed to be valued at $545,000; and 
d. A Mobility Fee Credit of $160,651.  



Resolution 2021-08-01 
Page 3 of 4 
 

 
 

 
Section 3. The DIA authorizes its Chief Executive Officer to negotiate a 

Redevelopment Agreement with the Developer or their assigns pursuant to Exhibit A, terms and 
conditions. 

 
Section 4. The DIA recommends that City Council adopt by ordinance a 

Redevelopment Agreement pursuant to Exhibit A, terms and conditions. 
 
Section 5. The DIA recommends that City Council vacate by ordinance approximately 

0.12 acre of right-of-way and 0.12 acre of drainage easement. 
 
Section 6.     The DIA recommends the purchase of approximately 4.6 acres of uplands 

and submerged lands for $6,040,680, and further recommends that City Council adopt legislation 
effectuating the purchase, as required. 

 
Section 7. The DIA finds this resolution, the proposed development and the terms and 

conditions contained in Exhibit A consistent with and in furtherance of the following Business 
Investment and Development Plan and Combined North Bank Community Redevelopment Area 
Plan Redevelopment Goals and Strategic Objectives:   

 
Redevelopment Goal No. 1: Reinforce Downtown as the City’s unique epicenter for 
business, history, culture, education, and entertainment. 
  

       Strategic Objective: Support expansion of entertainment and restaurant facilities. 
 
Redevelopment Goal 2: Increase rental and owner-occupied housing downtown, targeting 
key demographic groups seeking a more urban lifestyle.   
 

Strategic Objectives: Actively pursue a minimum of 3,850 built and occupied multi-
family dwelling units by 2025; and strive to induce construction of 350 multi-family 
dwelling units per year. 
Evaluate new multi-family residential development with Downtown design guidelines, 
overall compatibility, financial feasibility, and existing Downtown residential 
developments 

 
Redevelopment Goal No. 4: Improve walkability/bikeability and connectivity to adjacent 
neighborhoods and the St. Johns River while creating highly walkable nodes. 
 

Strategic Objective: Create a mixture of uses so that housing, activities, retail and 
other businesses are within useful walking distance. 

 
Section 8. The DIA hereby authorizes its CEO to take all necessary actions to 

effectuate the purposes of this Resolution, including but not limited to the filing of legislation and 



Resolution 2021-08-01 
Page 4 of 4 
 

 
 

execution of a Redevelopment Agreement, Purchase and Sale Agreement,  or their functional 
equivalents. 

 
Section 9.   This Resolution, 2021-08-01, shall become effective on the date it is signed by 

the Chair of the DIA Board. 
 
 
 
WITNESS:      DOWNTOWN INVESTMENT AUTHORITY 

 
 
 

 
 
______________________           
 W. Braxton Gillam, Esq., Chair  Date 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
VOTE:  In Favor: ________ Opposed:  _________ Abstained: _______ 



 

1 
 

Exhibit A: 
 

TERM SHEET 
One Riverside Avenue 

 
Multifamily REV Grant 

Grocer Anchored Shopping Center REV Grant 
Mixed-Use REV Grant 

 
Fuqua Development, LLC (Developer) 

 
Background: The subject site, comprising approximately 18.34-acres (12.64 upland and 5.70 submerged, the 
“Property”) is currently owned by 1 Riverside Property, LLC (“Owner”) which lists as its managing members Mr. 
William S. Morris III, Chairman of Morris Communications, and Mr. Craig S. Mitchell, President and CEO of Morris 
Communications.  

The Property is bisected by McCoy’s Creek, a 40-foot wide bulkheaded channel owned by the City. The air rights 
over the creek were conveyed to Owner from the City of Jacksonville decades ago when the property was 
developed and the surface over the creek is currently paved as parking and a driveway. There are two primary 
structures currently on the site; one on either side of the creek channel. As part of the McCoy’s Creek stream 
restoration, flood control and resiliency project, the channel is proposed to be widened to at least 84 feet and 
daylighted (surface coverings removed).  

The existing CIP project cost estimates include the cost of creating a new access road to the parcel east of the 
creek that would become landlocked by the daylighting of the creek. This proposal eliminates the need to do that 
by reconfiguring the creek resulting in cost savings that may then be used for acquisition of the property described 
below. Additional benefits to the City will be found through resiliency resulting from the relocated and redesigned 
McCoy’s Creek that will provide natural shoreline on the park side versus bulkhead if left within the development 
parcel. The park itself can then accept floodwaters during extraordinary storm events better than the adjacent 
developed properties, and upstream drainage will improve in the same way. 

Project: One Riverside Avenue is a plan for the acquisition and development of the Property (f/k/a the Florida 
Times Union property) located at 1 Riverside Ave. in the Brooklyn District of the Downtown Northbank Community 
Redevelopment Area. Fuqua Development (Fuqua) is under contract to acquire the approximately 18.34-acre site 
in its entirety. Following that closing, the City of Jacksonville would purchase approximately 4.9 acres on the east 
side of that Property (3.44 upland and 1.46 submerged) to facilitate completion of the McCoy’s Creek project, a 
portion of which land will ultimately become available for development of a City park (“COJ Park”) upon 
completion of the McCoy’s project. 

Fuqua proposes to develop the remaining westerly portion of the Property, approximately 13.42 acres (9.19 
upland and 4.24 submerged)(the “Development Parcel”), in two phases. Phase 1 will provide an estimated 39,256 
feet of retail (including a grocer occupying approximately 23,256 square feet plus an estimated 16,000 square feet 
of speculative retail space), and multi-family residential totaling a proposed 271 units in two buildings. Parking 



 

2 
 

will be provided in approximately 195 spaces of surface parking interior to the site and 420 spaces in a five-story 
structured parking garage, all subject to compliance with the requirements of Subpart H. - Downtown Overlay 
Zone and Downtown District Use and Form Regulations except as provided below. 

Phase 2 will include two mixed-use buildings and provide an estimated 15,000 square feet of additional retail 
inclusive of a riverfront restaurant, and five stories of multi-family residential comprising approximately 125 units. 
Fuqua also proposes the development of an additional 2.5 stories of parking in Phase 2 as well, also subject to 
compliance with Subpart H. Downtown Overlay requirements. See Exhibit 1 for more detail. 

Through the acquisition and redevelopment, COJ will daylight McCoy’s Creek and relocate it with a widened 
channel approximately 100 feet to the east of its current location, which will improve the drainage capabilities 
and sustainability measures of the entire creek and create better recreational opportunities for park visitors. In 
doing so, the existing covered creek site will be abandoned and filled by COJ which will facilitate the development 
of Phase 2 by Fuqua. The resulting City park adjacent to the existing railway will provide approximately 2.05 acres 
of recreational area for the public, accessible by the Riverwalk or a redesigned May Street, and 25 feet of creek 
front M/U path along the western edge of McCoy’s Creek. See Exhibit 2 for more detail.  

Neither Fuqua nor COJ have immediate plans for the use of the submerged land that will be owned on a fee simple 
basis by each party as noted above. 

Developer/ Applicant: Fuqua Development, LP of Atlanta Georgia will serve as the master developer for the Fuqua 
sites. The property acquired by Fuqua will be further subdivided into three parcels to accommodate: 1) the retail 
portions of Phase 1, and 2) the garage and residential portions of Phase 1, and 3) the mixed-use property of Phase 
2. A solely owned Fuqua entity will serve as the developer for the retail parcel of Phase 1, whereas a joint venture 
between Fuqua and a recognized regional development partner (to be approved by the DIA) will develop the 
residential component of Phase 1 and the mixed-use property in Phase 2.  

Total Development Costs (estimate):  $182,214,847 

Underwritten Development Costs Used for REV Grant Calculations: $173,645,211  

Equity (proposed): (30% of TDC) $  54,664,454 

City Incentives: Not more than $30,844,140 (through the City of Jacksonville Downtown Investment Authority), 
as follows: 

REV Grants: The Developer is requesting a REV Grant for 75% of the municipal and county ad valorem tax 
increment generated by each component of the project each year beginning with the first full year placed 
into service and ending on the earlier of: (i) 20 years thereafter, or (ii) upon the expiration or earlier 
termination of the Northbank Community Redevelopment Area TIF, unless the City agrees to assume the 
obligations of the Northbank CRA.   

The total REV grant indebtedness will not exceed $28,419,169 and will be paid annually beginning the first 
year of taxation following completion of each component based upon the incremental increase in the 
Duval County Operating Millage ad valorem taxes collected (“Annual Project Revenue”).  



 

3 
 

The REV Grants will be paid individually to Developer, its successors, or assigns in the following maximum 
amounts: 
  
 Retail – Phase 1 $  2,757,711.00 
 Residential - Phase 1 $17,347,914.00 
 Mixed Use – Phase 2 $  8,313,544.00 
 TOTAL $28,419,169.00 

For this purpose, the base amount shall be $11,078,614, which equals the pro rata share of the 2020 
valuation of the property being acquired with RE# 088967-0000, per the Duval County Property Appraiser. 
Apportionment of that base amount is made as follows: 

 

Completion Grant:  The appraised value of the COJ Park land is $7,760,000 assuming clear title and the 
ability to develop. There is currently an encumbrance in favor of the railroad that may impact value and 
development capacity. The COJ Park land is proposed to be acquired for $6,040,680 which amount reflects 
the cost savings to the McCoy’s project achieved by the relocation and which will be recognized without 
regard to elimination of the title issue. In the event Developer is able to clear the current title issue so 
that the full appraised value can be realized, COJ will pay to Developer upon completion of the demolition, 
a Completion Grant in the amount of the difference between the amount previously paid and full 
appraised value, with such difference totaling $1,719,320. 

Land: The City currently owns a right of way and drainage easement on the westerly portion of the 
Property, deemed to have values of $315,000 and $230,000, respectively. The City will convey or 
terminate those property rights in favor of Fuqua upon the Land Closing Date, as defined herein, providing 
confirmation of no active utility lines or services located within such right of way or easement. The City 
reserves the right to retain a drainage easement along the western edge of the Fuqua parcel should it be 
needed as an alternative site for this easement.  

Further, the City will swap its ownership of the current site of McCoy’s Creek and related air rights for a 
similar size parcel on the COJ park parcel for relocation of the creek, considered to be a like kind land swap 
of equal value. 

Mobility Fee: The City will provide Fuqua with a Mobility Free credit of $160,651. 

Stormwater Credits. Consistent with and pursuant to Chapter 55, Part 2, Ordinance Code, Developer may 
apply for and upon approval of such application and payment of the applicable fee, the City shall convey 
any Water Quality Compensatory Credit(s) as necessary for the construction of the Phase 1 and Phase 2 
improvements. 

2020 Tax Value 15,120,417$   100.0%
Fuqua 11,078,614$   72.8%

Retail 4,700,018$   42.4%
Residential 4,280,373$   38.6%
Mixed-use 2,098,222$   18.9%

COJ 4,041,803$     27.2%



 

4 
 

Developer Improvements: The Developer has requested relocation of the Riverwalk Easement recorded 
in OR 10555 at page 1744 in the vicinity of the helipad which is to be eliminated. If developer elects to 
pursue such relocation, Developer shall construct so much of the Riverwalk as is to be relocated at 
Developer’s sole cost and expense consistent with current Riverwalk design standards and the new 
easement area shall be no less than 30 feet in width consistent with the current easement width. 

Infrastructure: No City of Jacksonville infrastructure improvements are contemplated as incentives to this 
development activity. Nevertheless, the previously approved and in design McCoy’s Creek project includes 
certain access improvements for this site necessitated by the widening and opening of the creek. As a 
result, a new access roadway extending May Street from Leila Street onto the site is included in the 
McCoy’s Creek project and will facilitate this development. 

Loans: No other loans, grants, or other funding from the City of Jacksonville are contemplated for this 
project. 

Percent of COJ investment to overall project cost: $28,419,169 / $182,214,847 = 15.6% 

Percent of COJ investment to underwritten project cost: $28,419,169 / $173,645,211 = 16.4% 

Minimum Capital Contribution: 
1) The minimum total capital contribution through completion to remain eligible for the REV Grant is 

$163,366,600 further broken out as follows by component: 

Retail – Phase 1 $   20,247,465 
Residential - Phase 1 $   95,841,100 
Mixed Use – Phase 2 Retail $   4,835,300 
Mixed Use – Phase 2 Residential $ 43,069,600 
 $  47,904,900 
 $163,366,600 

Note: The DIA Board may approve a change in the sub-limits for the minimum capital contribution 
under the Mixed-Use component in which the subtotal of $47,904,900 is maintained and neither the 
Retail nor the Residential subcomponent deviates by more than 10% of the amounts shown. 
 

Additional Commitments: 
1) Developer commits at minimum to the development of: 

Phase 1 Improvements 
 Retail* 35,330 square feet1 
 Residential 265 units multifamily 
 Structured Parking 400 spaces 
1 - To also include a major brand grocery store of not less than 22,000 square feet 
  
Mixed Use – Phase 2 Improvements  
 Retail 13,500 square feet2 



 

5 
 

 Residential 113 units 
 Parking 180 spaces 
2 – To also include a minimum of 2 restaurants along McCoy’s Creek and/or the St. John’s River at least 
one of which must be a minimum of 5000 square feet on the ground floor with River and creek 
frontage; Phase 2 development shall face the creek and park 

2) As used herein retail shall include businesses that sell products on a transactional basis to end consumers, 
food and beverage establishments, or providers of services targeted towards the general public (other 
than healthcare, advising, or counseling). Retail locations should be ground floor, visible from Riverside 
Avenue or creek or river facing, and designed to attract the general public onto the property. Businesses, 
other than a gym or spa, operating primarily or exclusively on a membership basis, conducting business 
with customers under term arrangements, or providing goods and services targeted principally to other 
businesses shall not generally meet this definition, unless approved on a case-by-case basis. 

3) Developer may elect to perform the demolition of the former Florida Times-Union production building at 
the City’s expense at a fixed price cost of $4,600,000. City will provide a Temporary Construction Easement 
to the Developer if this option is chosen. If developer elects to perform the demolition, the site shall be 
returned to graded condition with all building debris and footers removed from the site and pilings 
removed to 3 feet below grade, all in accordance with plans and specifications agreed upon by Developer 
and the City and attached to the Redevelopment Agreement. 

4) Developer to provide City with a Temporary Construction Easement over all land east of the existing 
McCoy’s creek together with a 25’ strip adjacent to and west of the current bulkhead to facilitate the City’s 
removal of the existing bulkheads and filling of the existing creek location. 

Design Considerations 
The development must be compliant with requirements of the Downtown Overlay without waiver except 
as identified below: 

View and Access Corridors: The view and access corridors currently depicted on the site plan are an 
extension of Leila Street (complies with Overlay requirement) and two new view corridors – one at the 
extension of May Street over the former creek bed and one at the new McCoys Creek. This results in a 
Phase 1 residential building width parallel to the river that approaches 350’ between the view corridors. 
This length exceeds the permissible width and would require a waiver. It should be noted that due to the 
elevated Acosta ramp, there is currently no view and access corridor throughout the entire length of the 
site and the new development proposal would provide three. DIA would support the necessary waiver of 
maximum distance between view and access corridors to permit the wider residential phase 1 building as 
depicted provided the following conditions are satisfied: 

a. The corridor is at least 40’ in width as required, but is encouraged to exceed that width 
b. The corridor is dedicated to remain open in perpetuity 
c. Inclusion of a minimum 8’ sidewalk (preferably 10) on at least one side of the corridor extending 

from the Riverwalk to the nearest public right of way 



 

6 
 

d. Directional signage is included in accordance with Riverwalk Design standards both at the 
Riverwalk and at the nearest perpendicular right of way  identifying the corridor as Riverwalk 
access. 

Riverfront and creekfront setbacks and massing: To qualify for the incentives contemplated herein, no 
deviation or waiver from the riverfront height step backs or massing, or creekfront or riverfront setbacks 
shall be considered or allowed except as follows. A waiver allowing additional height or massing in Zone C 
beyond the available transfer from Zone B may be presented for consideration provided: 

a. No portion of the COJ Park  or any required view and access corridor can be  considered for massing 
swap.  

b. No private development elements encroach into Zone A. 
c. 50% or less of the available Zone B massing on the Development Parcel is used in Zone B. In other 

words the vertical building plane is further back from the river than the required 50 feet or the 
building articulation results in less of the 50% of the permissible massing actually being used in 
Zone B even when reallocated to increase Zone B Height. 

d. No parking, structured or surface may be located on  and visible from the riverfront 
e. No fill within Zone A or B will create a blank wall facing the Riverwalk or creek and the design will 

include riverfront and creekfront entrances. If Zone A or B are filled, the river frontage of any 
retaining wall will be activated. 

f. Ground floor retail and restaurant space must be included on the riverfront and creekfront 
consistent with the square footage minimums, and is encouraged in all riverfront and creekfront 
buildings. There must be an express commitment to a restaurant of 5000 square feet on the ground 
floor river and creek frontage corner in Phase 2.   

Parking: 

Generally, all surface parking will be screened from road frontage by buildings as required. 
Notwithstanding the foregoing, a request for deviation for surface parking may be processed without loss 
of incentive if granted by DDRB. Such application if any will be evaluated in accordance with the Overlay 
standards. 

 
Performance Schedule: 

• Execution of the Redevelopment Agreement shall occur within 30 days of City Council Approval and the 
Bill Effective Date. 

• Fuqua will close on the acquisition of the Land on or before December 31, 2021 (the “Land Closing Date”). 
• Demolition of existing structures to start no later than June 30, 2022 

Phase 1 Residential and Phase 1 Retail 
• Apply for and receive Final Approval from DDRB Phase 1 Residential within six (6) months following the 

Land Closing Date, but not later than April 30, 2022, demonstrating compliance with Subpart H. - 
Downtown Overlay Zone and Downtown District Use and Form Regulations including but not limited to 



 

7 
 

riverfront and creekfront building massing, view and access corridors, surface parking lot requirements, 
all setbacks, and easements, as outlined further above. 

• Submit all permit applications necessary for the Commencement of Construction of Phase 1 Retail and/or 
Residential within six (6) months following Land Closing Date, but no later than June 30, 2022.  

• Commencement of Construction of Phase 1 Residential within three (3) months following receipt of 
Building Permits from the COJ Building Inspection Division as necessary to begin construction for the 
applicable component, but no later than March 31, 2023. Commencement of Construction means: 

a) As reasonably can be considered necessary so that physical construction of the eligible Project (or 
any applicable component thereof) may begin and proceed to completion without foreseeable 
interruption: 

• Completion of all pre-construction engineering and design, 
• All necessary licenses, permits, and governmental approvals, 
• Engagement of all prime contractors, 
• Ordered essential equipment and supplies; and, 
• Financial commitments and resources to complete the construction of the applicable 

component; and, 
• Evidence of having “broken ground” and begun physical, material renovation and 

construction of new (excludes demolition) improvements on an ongoing basis without 
any Impermissible Delays. 

• Substantial Completion of Phase 1 Residential within thirty (30) months following Commencement of 
Construction of the applicable component as defined above, but not later than September 30, 2025. 

• Commencement of Construction of Phase 1 Retail no later than July 31, 2024. Commencement of 
Construction is the same as defined above. 

• Substantial Completion of Phase 1 Retail within fourteen (14) months following Commencement of 
Construction of the applicable component as defined above, but not later than September 30, 2025. 

 
Phase 2 Mixed-Use 
• Submit for DDRB Final Approval within six (6) months after Completion of McCoy’s Creek Relocation. 
• Submit Building Permit applications within three (3) months after DDRB Final Approval. 
• Commencement of Construction of Phase 2 Mixed-Use within one (1) month following receipt of Building 

Permits from the COJ Building Inspection Division as necessary to begin construction . 
• Substantial Completion of Phase 2 Mixed-Use within thirty (30) months following Commencement of 

Construction. 
 
Authority to Extended 
• The DIA CEO will have authority to extend this Performance Schedule for any component individually, 

(Phase 1 Retail, Phase 1 Residential, or Phase 2 Mixed-Use), in the CEO’s discretion, for up to six (6) months 
for good cause shown by the Developer / Applicant. Extensions of the Commencement of Construction 
date for any component, shall also serve to simultaneously extend the Completion of Construction date 
only for that same component by the same period granted. 

• All deadlines may be extended for force majeure delays as further defined. 



 

8 
 

Additional City of Jacksonville Commitments: 
• Concurrently with the Land Closing Date, but not later than December 31, 2021 (the “Park Closing Date”), 

COJ will purchase from Fuqua the COJ Park 2.05 acres of upland, and 1.46 acres of submerged land, and 
will also acquire approximately 1.07-acres for the relocation of McCoy’s Creek for [a purchase price of not 
more than $6,040,680, with provision for an additional $1,719,320 in the form of a Completion Grant 
subject to clear title of all encumbrances and upon completion of demolition of existing structures. 

• The City shall complete all design work and receive all necessary permits for relocation of McCoy’s Creek 
within twelve months of the Park Closing Date, but not later than December 31, 2022. Failure to meet this 
requirement shall provide Fuqua with the right to repurchase the property from the City at the price 
originally paid. 

• Following the excavation for the new site of McCoy’s Creek, but not later than by September 2023, City 
will remove the bulkheads and fill the existing McCoy’s Creek site with suitable fill material for the 
intended Phase 2 improvements, to an agreed upon grade, all in accordance with specifications agreed 
upon by Developer and the City and attached to the Redevelopment Agreement.  Failure to meet this 
deadline shall entitle Fuqua the right to liquidated damages of not more than $1,000.00 per day.  

• Not later than September 2023, City will complete the new May Street. 
 
This Term Sheet proposal is limited by the following conditions: 

The proposed REV Grant requires adherence to all terms and conditions of the Downtown Zoning Overlay 
as required by the DDRB approval without the request of any deviation or waiver of riverfront heights or 
setbacks or creekfront heights or setbacks, or view corridor requirements.  

There will be additional terms, conditions, rights, responsibilities, warranties, and obligations for both 
parties which shall be determined in a later negotiated mutually agreeable written contract (or multiple 
written contracts as is deemed necessary).   



 

9 
 

EXHIBIT 1 

Proposed Site Plan for One Riverside Avenue 

 
NOTE: Plans as shown are subject to further review and approval in confirmation with Subpart H. - 
Downtown Overlay Zone and Downtown District Use and Form Regulations.  



 

10 
 

EXHIBIT 2 

Site Plan for COJ Park 

 



SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION 
MORRIS – STAFF REPORT 

 



 

1 
 

One Riverside Avenue 
Market Rate Multifamily REV Grant 

Grocer Anchored Shopping Center REV Grant 
Market Rate Multifamily REV Grant (Mixed-Use) 

Staff Report 
 

August 16, 2021 
 

 
Applicant: Fuqua Development (or related entity) 
Project: One Riverside Avenue; Residential, Retail, Mixed-use 
Program Request: Multifamily REV Grant 

Retail REV Grant 
Mixed-Use REV Grant 

Completion Grant 
Vacate City owned ROW and Easement 

 
Total Development Costs (as presented): $ 182,214,847  
Total Development Cost (as underwritten): $ 173,645,211 

REV Requested (75%, 20 years): Retail $ 3,302,517 
 Multifamily $ 17,416,907 
 Mixed-Use $ 8,874,736 

REV Recommended (75%, 20 years): Retail $ 2,757,711 
 Multifamily $ 17,347,914 
 Mixed-Use $ 8,313,544 

REV Amount (Not to exceed):  $ 28,419,169  

Completion Grant:  $ 1,719,320 

Vacated Property Values: Right-of-way $ 315,000 
 Drainage Easement $ 230,000 

Mobility Fee Credit  $ 160,651 
TOTAL COJ INCENTIVES PROPOSED  $ 30,844,140 
 
The Project 
One Riverside Avenue is a planned development that will include a grocer anchored retail component and  
a multifamily development component in Phase 1 and a mixed-use (retail and residential) development 
component in Phase 2. The development site is located at 1 Riverside Ave. in the Brooklyn District of the 
Downtown Northbank Community Redevelopment Area (a/k/a the Morris Property or the Florida Times 
Union Property). The subject site, comprising approximately 18.34-acres (12.64 upland and 5.70 
submerged, the “Property”) is currently owned by 1 Riverside Property, LLC (“Owner”) which lists as its 



 

2 
 

managing members Mr. William S. Morris III, Chairman of Morris Communications, and Mr. Craig S. 
Mitchell, President and CEO of Morris Communications.  
 
Fuqua Development (“Fuqua” http://www.fuquadevelopment.com/) is under contract to acquire the 
approximately 18.34-acre site in its entirety. At closing, the City of Jacksonville would purchase 
approximately 4.9 acres on the east side of that Property (3.44 upland and 1.46 submerged) from Fuqua 
to facilitate completion of the McCoy’s Creek project, a portion of which will ultimately become available 
for development of a City park (“COJ Park”) upon completion of the McCoy’s Creek project as described 
further herein. 
 
Fuqua proposes to develop the remaining westerly portion of the Property, approximately 13.42 acres 
(9.19 upland and 4.24 submerged; the “Development Parcel”), in two phases. Phase 1 will provide an 
estimated 39,256 feet of retail (including a grocer occupying approximately 23,256 square feet plus an 
estimated 16,000 square feet of speculative retail space) to be developed by a Fuqua solely owned entity. 
Phase 1 also includes development of multi-family residential totaling a proposed 271 units in two 
buildings, and will be undertaken by a joint venture between Fuqua and TriBridge Residential LLC 
(“TriBridge” https://tribridgeresidential.com/). Parking will be provided in approximately 195 spaces of 
surface parking interior to the site and 420 spaces in a five-story structured parking garage, all subject to 
compliance with the requirements of Subpart H. - Downtown Overlay Zone and Downtown District Use 
and Form Regulations. 
 
Phase 2 will include two mixed-use buildings and provide an estimated 15,000 square feet of additional 
retail inclusive of a riverfront restaurant of not-less-than 5,000 square feet, and five stories of multi-family 
residential comprising approximately 125 units. Fuqua also proposes the development of an additional 
2.5 stories of parking in Phase 2 as well, also subject to compliance with Subpart H. Downtown Overlay 
requirements. 
 
Neither Fuqua nor COJ have immediate plans for the use of the submerged land that will be owned on a 
fee simple basis by each party as noted above. 
 
One Riverside Avenue 
The proposed redevelopment is collectively known as One Riverside Avenue. As noted previously, there 
are three principal components: the grocer anchored retail, the residential to be developed in Phase 1  
and the mixed-use component to be developed in Phase 2. Each of these are detailed further below: 
 
Grocer Anchored Retail Component  

• National or regionally known grocer retailer to occupy approximately 23,256 square feet fronting 
Riverside Avenue. It is the understanding of the DIA that negotiations with this grocer (yet to be 
named) are far along and that a lease with this tenant is imminent following finalization of the 
acquisition and funding arrangements. 

• Approximately 16,000 square feet of single-story speculative retail space, which may be adjacent 
to the grocer or in a separate building that also has frontage along Riverside Avenue. 

http://www.fuquadevelopment.com/
https://tribridgeresidential.com/


 

3 
 

• Parking will be provided in approximately 195 spaces of surface parking interior to the site, and 
these properties will also share a 420-space five-story structured parking garage. 

• The blended rent for the retail component equals $36 per square foot as proposed in the applicant 
provided pro forma. 

• For purposes of this agreement, “retail” includes businesses that sell products on a transactional 
basis to end consumers, food and beverage establishments, or providers of services targeted 
towards the general public. Further limitations within this definition may be found in the term 
sheet. 

 
Multifamily Residential Component 

• The unit mix for the 271 proposed residential units is captured in the table below: 

 

• As shown above, proposed rents range from $2.22 psf to $2.76 psf. 
• Premiums of $25 psf would be assessed for top floor units or for those units with river views. 
• As noted previously, TriBridge Residential would serve as co-developer on this component of the 

overall development. 
 
Mixed-Use Component 

• The unit mix for the 125 proposed residential units is captured in the table below: 

    
• As shown above, proposed rents range from $2.31 psf to $2.50 psf. 
• Premiums of $25 psf would be assessed for top floor units or for those units with river views. 
• TriBridge Residential is also expected to serve as co-developer on this component of the overall 

development. 

• The blended rent for the retail component equals $45 per square foot as proposed in the 

BASIC
MONTHLY

HEATED RENT PER
MIX % UNIT TYPE # UNITS SQ FT PER UNIT SQ FT

30% 1BD / 1BA Elevator Flats 80 650         1,600$             2.46$         
31% 1BD / 1BA Elevator Flats 85 720         1,900$             2.64$         
38% 2BD / 2BA Elevator Flats 102 1,050      2,900$             2.76$         
1% 3BD / 3BA Elevator Flats 4 1,350      3,000$             2.22$         

Total or Average 271 833         2,204$             2.65$         

Residential Unit Mix - Phase 1

BASIC
MONTHLY

HEATED RENT PER
UNIT TYPE MIX % # UNITS SQ FT PER UNIT SQ FT

1BD / 1BA Elevator Flats 24% 30 650           1,500$               2.31$         
1BD / 1BA Elevator Flats 40% 50 720           1,800$               2.50$         
2BD / 2BA Elevator Flats 36% 45 1,050        2,600$               2.48$         
3BD / 3BA Elevator Flats 0% 0 -            -$                   -$           

Total or Average 125 822           2,016$               2.45$         

Residential Unit Mix - Phase 2



 

4 
 

applicant provided pro forma. 
• As part of the 13,500 minimum square feet of retail in Phase 2 contemplated to include smaller 

retail bays on the creekfront, a minimum 5,000 square foot restaurant will be located on the 
ground floor river and creek frontage corner. 

 
The Development Team 
Fuqua Development was founded in March 2012. Fuqua Development L.P. has successfully completed 
many notable projects including the development of The Battery at SunTrust Park, The Exchange @ 
Gwinnett, Decatur Crossings, Glenwood Place, Kennesaw Marketplace, Lindbergh Place, Peachtree 
Corners Market, Sugarloaf Marketplace, Madison Yards, and Peachtree Corners Town Center. Fuqua has 
multiple mixed-use projects under construction or in development for metro Atlanta ranging from East 
Atlanta and East Cobb to Huntsville, Alabama. Fuqua Development has been the largest retail developer 
in the Atlanta area for the last six consecutive years. Since 2012, Fuqua has developed 22 projects in the 
Southeast totaling 2 million square feet of retail space, 5,000 multi-family units and office space. Six 
additional projects are under construction or in development and total an additional 1 million square feet 
of retail space, 2,000 multi-family units and office space. 
 
Mr. Jeff Fuqua is the founder of Fuqua Development L.P. Fuqua was previously Board Member, Partner 
& President of The Sembler Company. In his nearly 25-year tenure there, Fuqua developed in excess of 16 
million square feet in over 100 projects valued at $8 billion including Edgewood Retail District, Perimeter 
Place, The Prado in Sandy Springs, Town Brookhaven, Park Place, Lindbergh Plaza and many others. 
 
Fuqua holds a bachelor’s degree in real estate finance and MBA in real estate development and real estate 
finance from the University of Denver. 
 
Ms. Heather Correa is Partner of Fuqua Development, LLC. And is responsible for overseeing all 
development including design, zoning, land use and construction of very complex and innovative mixed-
use projects. 
 
Formerly, Ms. Correa was Vice President of Development with The Sembler Company, and a key executive 
involved in the planning and creation of the development of nearly 40 key projects over a fifteen year 
span. In Atlanta, her efforts produced the award-winning projects such as Midtown Place, Edgewood 
Retail District, Perimeter Place and the redevelopment of Lindbergh Plaza, which incorporate national 
retailers and local retailers in an urban mixed-use context.  Correa’s work with the development of 
Edgewood Retail District was the largest zoning in the City of Atlanta under Mayor Shirley Franklin’s 
administration and was approved by both ARC and GRTA. 

 
Correa attended the University of Florida and obtained a Bachelor of Design in Architecture followed by a 
Masters in Architecture and began her career as an architect working on high-profile projects such as Sand 
Key Resort Hotel in Florida and Home Depot retail developments throughout the state of Florida. She 
received her license in Architecture from the State of Florida and is a member of AIA, NCARB, and ICSC. 
 



 

5 
 

TriBridge Residential is a full-service multifamily investment, development, and management company 
based in Atlanta, GA, with approximately $1 billion and 6,000 units in assets under management as of 
December 31, 2019. With 50 corporate professionals and over 150 on-site staff, the firm focuses on 
markets in the Southeast and provides a vertically integrated platform with a 25+ year track record 
through its subsidiaries and affiliates. 
 
Capital Improvement Program Projects 
There are City Capital projects that affect redevelopment of the site. Of particular importance to this 
agreement are the McCoy’s Creek Restoration Project, which is currently in the Capital Improvement 
Program, and currently includes the extension of Magnolia Street into the site. As a result of this 
Agreement, the Magnolia Street extension will no longer be required, and May Street will be extended 
from Leila Street into the site at a substantial savings to the Project cost. 
 
McCoy’s Creek Restoration Project 
The primary purpose of the McCoy’s Creek Restoration Project is flood control, creek restoration, and 
resiliency and the project is funded through the City’s Capital Improvement Program. The portion of 
McCoy’s Creek extending through the property is within Phase II of the restoration and scheduled for 
completion by late summer / early fall 2022.  
 
The image below shows the project limits, showing how the mouth of the creek and its portion within the 
site are integral to the restoration project’s purposes.  
 

 
 
Speaking to the following map, from east to west: illustrated by the area shaded in red is approximately 
two and one-third acres of land that the City/DIA is purchasing as part of this agreement. Illustrated in 
orange and identified as ‘B’ is the proposed widening and rerouting of McCoy’s Creek. Illustrated by the 
green shaded area is 25’ of lands contiguous to the west of the relocated McCoy’s Creek to accommodate 
the new Emerald Trail segment. Illustrated in blue and identified as ‘A’ above is the current location and 
configuration of McCoy’s Creek as it runs through the property.  
 



 

6 
 

 
 
 
McCoy’s Creek will be widened to approximately 80’ in width from the northern property line to the St. 
Johns River, which, as previously stated, is enabled by the City/DIA parkland purchase. Further, McCoy’s 
Creek will be “daylighted”, eliminating the current capacity constraint caused by surface development 
(e.g. parking) above the creek.  
 
In addition to the approximately two and one-third acres of land for park and additional creek bed, a 25’ 
strip of land contiguous to the western boundary of the relocated McCoy’s Creek will be purchased by the 
City/DIA. This 25’ of land will enable the construction of additional publicly owned multi-use path along 
the creek to the St. Johns River. 
 
Park Accessibility 
Proposed as a capital project prior to this agreement was an extension of Magnolia Street, inclusive of a 
vehicular and pedestrian bridge over McCoy’s Creek, from Leila Street into the site. The relocation of the 
McCoy’s Creek enabled by the proposed parkland purchase creates the opportunity for Capital 
Improvement Program cost savings: replacing the Magnolia Street extension with an extension of May 
Street (a now closed right-of-way) from Leila Street, east by southeast under the Riverside Avenue ramp 
and into the development. This alternative is both shorter in length and eliminates the need for a bridge 
as it would land on the site west of the relocated McCoy’s Creek. 
  
Cost Savings 
The City’s Public Works Department projected both the costs of the McCoy’s Creek Restoration Project 
and Magnolia Street extension capital projects as currently planned as well as projects’ costs with the 
aforementioned modifications, as outlined in the following table:   
 
 



 

7 
 

CONSTRUCTION COSTS*     

  CURRENT CIP PROPOSED CIP 

MAGNOLIA STREET EXTENSION $3,191,233  $0  
MAGNOLIA STREET BRIDGE   $1,960,820  $0  
MAY STREET EXTENSION $0  $3,500,000  

VEHICULAR BRIDGE ON SITE, OVER MCCOY'S CREEK $3,000,000  $0  

PRODUCTION BUILDING DEMOLITION $0  $4,600,000  

NEW BULKHEAD / NEW CHANNEL $11,200,000  $12,600,000  

RETAINING WALL @ P/L   $650,000  $0  

STAIRS AND ELEVATORS TO SERVE CREEK $750,000  $0  

WALKWAYS ALONG CREEK, INCL. RETAINING WALL $1,000,000  $0  

DEMO AND REPLACE RIVERWALK, INCL. CORKSCREW STAIRS   $4,600,000  $0  

MODIFY EXISTING RIVERWALK RAMP AND ADD CORKSCREW $0  $2,000,000  

REMOVAL OF VIADUCT ON FDOT R/W $326,000  $0  

MODIFY VIADUCT ON MORRIS PROPERTY $4,000,000  $0  

ABANDON & FILL ENTIRE VIADUCT $0  $850,000  

SUBTOTAL $22,526,000  $20,050,000  

CEI (10%) $2,252,600  $2,005,000  

Contingency (15%) $3,378,900  $3,007,500  

Engineering/Survey (18%) $4,054,680  $3,609,000  

Land Acquisition $2,500,000  $0  

PROJECT TOTAL $34,712,180  $28,671,500  
*Cost comparison is without the benefit of 100% engineering and construction costs continue to rise, but 
nonetheless indicate a cost savings to the City. 
 
The cost savings of $6,040,680 realized by these modifications serves as the source of funds for the 
acquisition of the property that will provide for the relocation and daylighting of McCoy’s Creek and the 
adjacent 2.05-acre proposed future COJ park. 
 
It is important to note that further approvals by the Florida Department of Transportation, JTA and others 
will be required. The DIA and the City continue to work with each agency and believe that the proposed 
McCoy’s Creek relocation and May Street extension are superior alternatives. 
  
Recaptured Enhanced Value (REV) Calculations: 
All REV calculations are based on estimated Annual Project Revenues defined as the incremental ad 
valorem property tax payments received by the City above the 2020 base value established by the Duval 
County Property appraiser. In this situation, the property was broken into four parcels for analysis based 
on square footage acquired (including the COJ parcel) as shown in the table below: 

 



 

8 
 

 
Each of REV grant proposed is based on a rate of 75% of Annual Project Revenues for a period of 20 years. 
Property tax amounts collected for the benefit of the Duval County School Board, St. John’s River Water 
Management District, and Florida Inland Waterways Navigation are not included in these calculations but 
will be shown for informational purposes only. Each REV Grant shall be paid over a twenty-year period, 
ending on the earlier of: (i) 20 years, but not later than 2045 payable in 2046 (or 2047 payable in 2048 in 
the case of the Mixed-Use REV Grant), or (ii) upon the expiration or earlier termination of the Downtown 
Northbank Community Redevelopment Area TIF, unless the City agrees to assume the obligations of the 
Downtown Northbank CRA. 
 
Retail REV Grant 

• Based on land ($3,000,000) and construction costs ($16,430,298) adjusted to exclude Retail Build-
out, Tenant Improvements, Furniture, Fixtures, and Equipment ($2,896,344, captured 
alternatively within Tangible Personal Property) and certain soft costs totaling $180,000. 

• Construction Management was also excluded from this REV calculation as Fuqua development 
will serve in that capacity. 

• Twenty-year ad valorem inflows to the benefit of the TIF, plus four years of holding and developing 
the property prior to stabilization totals $3,588,198. 

• The proposed REV Grant for this component is $2,757,711 to be paid in annual installments over 
the twenty-year compliance period. 

 
Residential REV Grant 

• Based on land ($15,500,000) and construction costs ($88,750,061) adjusted to exclude Furniture, 
Fixtures, and Equipment ($1,030,000, captured alternatively within Tangible Personal Property) 
along with reserves and soft costs of $1,100,000. 

• Twenty-year ad valorem inflows to the benefit of the TIF, plus four years of holding and developing 
the property prior to stabilization totals $23,550,883. 

• The proposed REV Grant for this component is $17,347,914 to be paid in annual installments over 
the twenty-year compliance period. 

 
Mixed-use REV Grant 

• Based on land ($5,625,000) and construction costs ($44,339,852) adjusted to exclude Retail Build-
out, Tenant Improvements, Furniture, Fixtures, and Equipment ($1,335,000, captured 
alternatively within Tangible Personal Property) operating deficits, and certain soft costs totaling 
$1,927,750. 

• Twenty-year ad valorem inflows to the benefit of the TIF, plus five years of holding and developing 
the property prior to stabilization totals $11,248,262. 

• The proposed REV Grant for this component is $8,313,544 to be paid in annual installments over 
the twenty-year compliance period. 

 
TOTALS 

• The table shown below reconciles the development costs used for REV Grant calculations 
(through the first Subtotal) with the development budgets as provided by the applicant: 



 

9 
 

 
• Total ad valorem inflows to the benefit of the TIF, including holding and development periods 

prior to stabilization, totals $38,338,028. 
• The REV Grant totals are found in the table below: 

 Retail – Phase 1 $  2,757,711 
 Residential - Phase 1 $17,347,914 
 Mixed Use – Phase 2 $  8,313,544 
 TOTAL $28,419,169 

• The minimum total capital contribution through completion to remain eligible for the REV Grant 
is $163,366,600 further broken out as follows by component: 

Retail – Phase 1 $     2,247,465 
Residential - Phase 1 $   95,841,100 
Mixed Use – Phase 2 Retail $   4,835,300 
Mixed Use – Phase 2 Residential $  43,069,600 
 $  47,904,900 
 $163,366,600 

Note: The DIA Board may approve a change in the sub-limits for the minimum capital 
contribution under the Mixed-Use component in which the subtotal of $47,904,900 is 
maintained and neither the Retail nor the Residential subcomponent deviates by more 
than 10% of the amounts shown. 

 
• Additional estimated benefit to the Duval County School Board, St. John’s River Water 

Management District, and Florida Inland Waterways Navigation not captured above totals 
$21,547,707. 

 
Appraisal and Completion Grant 
An appraisal for the property was prepared by Colliers International providing an overall “As Is” value as 
June 30, 2021, of $31,900,000 (net of Air Rights, City Right of Way, and Drainage Easement). This equates 
to $60 psf for the 12.63-acre upland portions of the property and approximately $2.43 per square foot for 
the 5.70-acre submerged lands as detailed further in the table below: 
 

Residential Retail Mixed-use TOTAL
Land 15,500,000$           3,000,000$             5,625,000$             24,125,000$      
Construction 88,750,061$           16,430,298$           44,339,852$           149,520,211$    

Subtotal 104,250,061$          19,430,298$           49,964,852$           173,645,211$    

FF&E 1,030,000$             585,000$                1,615,000$        
Soft Costs 1,100,000$             180,000$                1,765,000$             3,045,000$        
Tenant Improvements 1,456,344$             750,000$                2,206,344$        
Project Management 1,284,500$             1,284,500$        
Related Contingency 110,000$                146,042$                162,750$                418,792$          

Subtotal 2,240,000$             3,066,886$             3,262,750$             8,569,636$        
TOTAL 106,490,061$          22,497,184$           53,227,602$           182,214,847$    



 

10 
 

 
 
Following the sale of the easterly portion of the property to COJ, the following values for the land are 
derived: 

 
 
Notably, the eastern portion of the property is shown to be encumbered with an easement reservation in 
favor of CSX railroads that is not captured in the valuation above. As such, the purchase price for the 
property is limited to the $6,040,680 of CIP savings to be generated by the revisions to the McCoy’s Creek 
plan as outlined previously. The additional $1,719,320 to the full value shown above is held back to be 
paid as a completion grant upon satisfaction of the easement via release, title insurance, or bonding over 
that easement by the Developer. Timing for that payment will also coincide with completion of the 
demolition of the Times-Union production facility, proposed to be undertaken by the Developer with COJ 
paying the cost of demolition as estimated by Public Works at $4,600,000. 
 
Capital Considerations 
Overall land value shown in the development budgets equals $24,125,000 or $59.94 per square foot, in 
line with the appraiser’s valuation of $60 per square foot. As shown below, that value varies by component 
based on the economic value of that component and its related use as well as site cost requirements and 
other considerations. 
 
Retail 

• 3.92 acres of Land is valued at $3,000,000 or $17.57 psf. 



 

11 
 

• Site costs add $6,059,607 or $35.49 psf. 
• Building hard costs for the 39,256 square foot construction (net of grocery build out and TI) is 

provided at $5,039,556 or $128.38 psf. 
• Inclusive of land, site costs, and construction costs, and eligible soft costs, total project cost for 

the retail portion equals $19,430,298 or $494.96 psf. While these amounts are considered high as 
compared with similar developments, the net figure is used to determine the maximum REV 
amount only and cannot be achieved if the property appraiser does not find the value to be in line 
with these estimates. 

• With the additional of Grocery fit up and case work (required by the tenant), construction 
management costs excluded due to being paid to Fuqua, and previously excluded soft costs 
(travel, reserves, marketing, and related contingency) total development costs are found to be 
$22,497,184 or $573 psf.  

 
Residential 

• The residential construction costs also include the $7,485,000 cost of the 420-space parking deck 
which equals $17,820 per space which is considerably lower than DIA’s experience with the cost 
to build other structured parking garages in recent years. 

• 3.57 acres of land is valued at $15,500,000 or $12.86 psf. 
• Site costs add $2,000,000 or $8.86 psf 
• Building hard costs for the 225,700 square foot construction is provided at $62,536,862 or $286 

psf. 
• Inclusive of land, site costs, and construction costs, and eligible soft costs, total project cost for 

the residential portion equals $104,250,061 or $461.90 psf or average $384,687 per unit. 
• With the addition of F,F, and E and previously excluded soft costs (travel, reserves, marketing, and 

related contingency) total development costs are found to be $106,490,061 or $472 psf.  
 
Mixed-Use 

• 1.75 acres of land is valued at $5,625,000 or $73.79 psf. 
• Site costs add $1,320,000 or $17.32 psf 
• Building hard costs for the 117,500 square foot construction is provided at $30,170,148 or $125 

psf for the retail portion and $275.40 psf for the residential component ($226,261 per unit). 
• Inclusive of land, site costs, and construction costs, and eligible soft costs, total project cost for 

the residential portion equals $49,464,852 or $424 psf or average $371,648 per residential unit. 
• With the addition of F,F, and E and previously excluded soft costs (travel, reserves, marketing, and 

related contingency) total development costs are found to be $53,227,602 or $452 psf ($382,248 
per unit).  

 
Recommendation: 
Because the request does not fall under an established DIA Program or is outside of established program 
parameters, analysis using the decision-making criteria established as the tiered approach within the BID 
Plan is required. 
 



 

12 
 

Tier 1 – The project meets no fewer than two (2) of the seven (7) BID Goals. 
As submitted by the applicant, the project is proposed to contribute positively towards: 
 
Redevelopment Goal No. 1 – Reinforce Downtown as the City’s unique epicenter for business, history, 
culture, education, and entertainment. 
 
Staff finds that development of the subject hotel property contribute to the strategic objectives of: 

▪ Increasing opportunities for downtown employment,  
▪ Support the expansion of …restaurant facilities.  
▪ Create a consistent theme and image that conveys a sense of the excitement and activity 

Downtown 
Further, staff finds that the subject hotel development would contribute positively to the benchmarks of: 

▪ Number of jobs as the Project Profile Assessment estimates the job count to be approximately 
168 upon completion and stabilization,  

▪ Number of business establishments, per the applicant, “The Project contains several restaurants 
and entertainment venues, which will be integrated with McCoy’s Creek and the Riverwalk to 
create accessible al fresco dining areas, outdoor displays and similar uses. Developer is 
investigating the feasibility of operating a floating food hall or restaurant venue on a permanently 
moored vessel within the privately-owned submerged land portion of the Project  

▪ Tax Value and Impact to TIF and Future Projections as evidenced by the projections provided 
above. Estimated ad valorem for the City alone is estimated at more than $38 million, and the net 
increase to the TID after payment of the RE$V Grants would be approximately $10 million. 

 
Redevelopment Goal No. 2 - Increase rental and owner-occupied housing downtown, targeting key 
demographic groups seeking a more urban lifestyle. 
 
Staff finds that development as proposed meets the strategic objectives of: 

▪ Actively pursue a minimum of 3,850 built and occupied multi-family dwelling units by 2025; and 
strive to induce construction of 350 multi-family dwelling units per year through the addition of 
more than 400 apartments. 

▪ Leverage land contributions, infrastructure investments, incentive grants, and low interest loans 
by coordinating with the DIA and public works in the opportunity to create a new public park, the 
expansion/relocation of McCoy’s Creek, and necessary infrastructure to support coordinated 
public and private development. 

▪ Promote and attract neighborhood retail to support downtown residents will be achieved by 
providing  neighborhood retail to support the existing Downtown residents as well as for the 
benefit of residents brought into the area through additional residential opportunities. 

Further, staff finds that the subject hotel development would contribute positively to the benchmarks of: 
▪ Number of Residents. 
▪ Number of Residential Units. 
▪ Number of Jobs. 
▪ Number of Business Establishments. 
▪ Tax Value and Impact to TIF and Future Projections. 
▪ Number of Multi-Family Units Constructed. 
▪ Number of Building Permits Issued. 

 
Redevelopment Goal No. 3 - Simplify the approval process for Downtown development and improve 
departmental and agency coordination. 



 

13 
 

 
Staff finds that development as proposed meets the strategic objectives of: 
 

▪ Initiate public-private partnerships through the active coordination of McCoy’s Creek 
redevelopment in ways that are beneficial to the plans as initially established. 

Further, staff finds that the subject hotel development would contribute positively to the benchmarks of: 
▪ Annual Private Capital Investments 

 
Redevelopment Goal No. 4 – Improve walkability/bikeability and connectivity to adjacent neighborhoods 
and the St. Johns River while creating highly walkable nodes. 
 
Staff concurs that development of the subject hotel property contribute to the strategic objectives of: 

▪ Develop interconnected, attractive, and safe pedestrian links…among neighborhoods (and) 
activities by converting commercial property to residential and retail uses that brings more 
residents into the Brooklyn neighborhood. 

▪ Create a mixture of uses so that housing, activities, retail and other businesses are within useful 
walking distance. 

▪ The Project is perfectly positioned to provide visitors with a fun, safe and attractive experience to 
see all that downtown Jacksonville has to offer. 

▪ Require sidewalks of sufficient width and make sure a continuous pedestrian path is available will 
be found along the Riverwalk in addition to new access corridors to Riverside Avenue. 

▪ Plant street trees, using varieties that will provide shade will be realize4d through the 
redevelopment efforts both along Riverside Avenue as well as throughout the property and along 
the Riverwalk where possible or as required. 

Further, staff finds that the subject development would likely contribute positively to the benchmarks of: 
▪ Walk Score greater than 90 in neighborhood nodes 
▪ Walk Score greater than 80 in all other parts of Downtown other than [TIAA]Bank Field 
▪ Increased Private Capital Investments in neighborhood nodes 
▪ Increase in observed number of pedestrians and bicyclists 
▪ Increase in desirable street activity outside of business hours 

 
Tier 2 
Detailed construction budgets and operating pro formas were provided by the Developer in the 
application. While the construction costs appear high to DIA Staff, the minimum levels of capital 
investment ensure that funds will be spent on the development of the property and within a reasonable 
period per the Performance Schedule as found in the Term Sheet. Similarly, the assumptions found in the 
preparation of the operating pro forma also appear optimistic when measured by rents and expenses in 
today’s environment, but they are prepared with the expectation of continuing increases and growth in 
our community and choose to contribute to those efforts by this development project. 
 
The analysis of return on investment using an IRR approach consistent with methodology employed in 
other similar development projects demonstrates that public support of this development activity is 
necessary to attract the capital needed to ensure its success. 
 
Tier 3 
The development plan as presented is projected to contribute positively to each of the following 
Performance Measures as detailed elsewhere within this Staff report: 

▪ Employment 



 

14 
 

▪ Residents 
▪ Residential Units 
▪ Business Establishments 
▪ Increase Tax Value 
▪ Outdoor Seating Establishments 

 
Conclusion 
Because the analysis provided here demonstrates that this development project contributes to the goals 
and objectives of the CRA and BID Plan, DIA Staff recommends approval of these incentives as presented 
herein. 
 
 



TAB III.C 

RESOLUTION 2021-08-03: SRX 50 SEATS 



 

RESOLUTION 2021-08-03 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE DOWNTOWN INVESTMENT AUTHORITY 
URGING THE CITY COUNCIL TO ADOPT A RESOLUTION IN 
SUPPORT OF A J-BILL TO BE CONSIDERED BY THE DUVAL 
DELEGATION, WHICH WOULD AMEND CHAPTER 87-471, LAWS OF 
FLORIDA, AS AMENDED BY CHAPTER 2011-255, 2016-248 AND 2017-
213, LAWS OF FLORIDA, TO ADD SPECIAL ZONES TO 
JACKSONVILLE, FLORIDA, SO AS TO PROVIDE AN EXCEPTION TO 
§561.20(1), FLORIDA STATUTES, FOR SPACE AND SEATING 
REQUIREMENTS FOR LIQUOR LICENSES FOR RESTAURANTS IN 
THE COMBINED NORTHBANK CRA; PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE 
DATE; AUTHORIZING THE DOWNTOWN INVESTMENT AUTHORITY 
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER TO EXECUTE ALL DOCUMENTS AND 
OTHERWISE TAKE ALL ACTION NECESSARY TO EFFECTUATE THE 
PURPOSES OF THIS RESOLUTION; PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE 
DATE. 
 
 
WHEREAS, the Downtown Investment Authority (“DIA”) was designated the 

Community Redevelopment Agency and the City’s economic development agency for Downtown 
by Ordinance 2014-0560-E; and 

 
WHEREAS, the DIA believes more restaurants are essential to a healthy and vital 

downtown Jacksonville; and 
 
WHEREAS, the DIA believes more restaurants can complement and aid existing retail 

establishments by bringing more people to downtown; and  
 
WHEREAS, the DIA believes current restaurant laws hinder the development of smaller, 

full service restaurants that can help revitalize a downtown area and bring more people to  
downtown; and  

 
WHEREAS, the DIA believes current restaurant laws hinder the preservation of smaller, 

more spatially constricted confines that historic properties present in the Northbank CRA; and  
 
WHEREAS, the DIA believes incentives and fewer regulatory restrictions for restaurants 

can help encourage development in the Northbank CRA; and  
 

 
NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the Downtown Investment Authority 

 
Section 1. The DIA finds that the recitals set forth above are true and correct and are 

incorporated herein by this reference.   
 



RESOLUTION 2021-08-03 
 

Section 2.  The DIA supports the reduction in seating and service area minimum 
requirements for the Northbank CRA to 50 seats and 900 square feet. 

 
Section 3.  The DIA urges to the City Council to adopt a Resolution in support of the 

foregoing and forward the same to the Duval Delegation.  
 
Section 3. The DIA authorizes its Chief Executive Officer to execute all documents 

and otherwise take all action necessary to effectuate the purposes of this Resolution. 
 
Section 4. The Effective Date of this Resolution is the date upon execution of the 

Resolution by the Chair of the DIA Board. 
 
 
WITNESS:     DOWNTOWN INVESTMENT AUTHORITY 
 
 
 
 
 
           ____________
      W. Braxton Gillam, Esq., Chairman  Date 
 
 
 
 
 
VOTE:  In Favor:    Opposed:    Abstained:   

 



SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION 

SRX 50 SEATS – STAFF REPORT 



 

DIA Strategic Implementation Committee 
Staff Report 

 
Northbank CRA SRX license seating and service area reduction  

 
August 16, 2021 

 
 
The Downtown Investment Authority is urging the City Council to adopt a resolution in support 
of a J-bill to be considered by the Duval Delegation to provide an exception for space and 
seating requirements for liquor licenses for restaurants in the combined Northbank CRA.  The 
current requirement is a minimum of 100 seats and 1800 square feet in service area.  The 
recommended change is to lower those to a minimum of 50 seats and 900 square feet of service 
area. This would encourage and support smaller businesses and their ability to work within the 
spatially constricted confines that historic properties present. 
 
 
General Alcohol License Information  
The 3 most common licenses used for on and off premise consumption (non-retail) are   

1. 2COP – beer and wine only, can be in conjunction with food or without.  The license holder can 
sell malt beverage and wine for consumption on premise and sell the same for off premise 
consumption.  These licenses are unlimited.  Examples – Superfood and Brew, Alewife in 5 
Points, The Posting House 

2. 4COP “quota” – any alcoholic beverage, can be in conjunction with food or without.  The 
issuance is limited to 1 license per 7500 residents per county.  The license holder can sell any 
type of alcoholic beverage, of any alcoholic content, for on and off premise consumption. 
Because of their limited quantity, these licenses sell based on market value which in Duval 
County is approximately $500,000.  Examples – Riverside Liquors, Costco, Dos Gatos 

3. 4COP SRX “special restaurant beverage” – any alcoholic beverage but MUST be in conjunction 
with food sales.  This special provision allows a restaurant to sell any alcoholic beverage, 
including liquor, under certain circumstances.  Under general law, a restaurant may be issued an 
SRX license if it has at least 2,500 square feet of service area, is equipped to serve meals to 150 
customers simultaneously, and derives at least 51 percent of gross revenue from the sale of food 
and non-alcoholic beverages. Like a 4COP “quota”, the issuance of the license is also subject 
to any zoning requirement establishing a minimum distance between liquor-serving 
establishments and schools or churches, as well as any state alcoholic beverage law not 
otherwise inconsistent with the special act. Examples – Indochine, Bellwether, Cowford 
 

 
History of changes in minimum seating and service area requirement in Duval County  

1. In 1987, the Legislature created more lenient requirements for the issuance of SRX licenses in a 
special zone in Jacksonville. At the time, the zone included three areas: Northside West, 
Northside East, and Southbank.  The minimums were changed to 100 seats and 1800 square feet 
in service area. 

2. In 2011 the zone was expanded to include the Riverside Avondale Urban Transition area (aka 5 
Points). The minimums were changed to 100 seats and 1800 square feet in service area. 

3. In 2016 the zone was expanded to include the Riverside Avondale Commercial Character Areas. 
The minimums were changed to 100 seats and 1800 square feet in service area. 



 

4. In 2017 the zone was expanded to include the Murray Hill Commercial Area, Springfield 
Commercial Area, and the San Marco Transportation Corridor. The minimums were changed to 
100 seats and 1800 square feet in service area. 

 
 
Small Businesses in Small Spaces 
The development goals adopted by the DIA support the need for large and small businesses, both of 
which play a unique role in the urban fabric of downtown Jacksonville. The Northbank CRA has an array 
of spaces, both historic and non-historic, to accommodate those businesses.  Easing restrictions in this 
manner and in this area will support existing and encourage the expansion of small businesses that further 
the growth of a unique and diverse downtown.  
 
Recommendation  
DIA staff recommends approval of Resolution 2021-08-03 urging City Council to adopt a resolution in 
support of a J-Bill to make the changes described above to further encourage small business growth in the 
Northbank CRA 
 
  
 

 
 
 



TAB III.D 

RESOLUTION 2021-08-04: NB TID INVESTMENT POOL EARNINGS 



RESOLUTION 2021 -08-04 
 
A RESOLUTION OF THE DOWNTOWN INVESTMENT AUTHORITY 
ACTING AS THE COMMUNITY REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY BOARD 
OF THE COMBINED NORTHSIDE EAST AND NORTHWEST CRA’S 
REQUESTING THAT CITY COUNCIL APPROPRIATE PREVIOUSLY 
UNAPPROPRIATED FY 20-21 INVESTMENT POOL EARNINGS TO 
FUTURE YEARS DEBT REDUCTION; PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE 
DATE. 
  

 
WHEREAS, within the Combined Northside East and Northwest CRA funds there are 

unappropriated FY 20-21 Investment Pool Earnings; and 
 
WHEREAS, the DIA has requested that Interest and Investment Pool Earnings from FY 

20/21 be budgeted as part of the FY 21/22 budget process; however the actual amount is 
unavailable to use as they have not been posted in the accounting system; and  

 
WHEREAS, there will exist at fiscal year-end an as yet undetermined balance of  

Interest and Investment Pool Earnings within the CRA trust fund available for designation by the 
CRA and appropriation; and  
 

WHEREAS, the Finance and Budget Committee of the DIA has recommended that the 
previously unbudgeted Investment Pool Earnings through fiscal year end be appropriated to the 
Future Years Debt Reduction as authorized by state statute. 

 
NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Downtown Investment Authority: 

 
Section 1.  The DIA finds that the recitals set forth above are true and correct and are 

incorporated herein by this reference. 
 
Section 2.   The DIA requests that City Council appropriate any unappropriated 

Investment Pool Earnings to Future Years Debt Reduction. 
 
Section 3.   The DIA Board hereby authorizes the CEO to take all actions necessary to 

effectuate the intent of this Resolution. 
 
Section 4.  This Resolution shall become effective on the date it is signed by the 

Chair of the DIA Board. 
 

WITNESS:              DOWNTOWN INVESTMENT AUTHORITY 
 
 
 
______________________          
     W. Braxton Gillam, Esq., Chair Date 
 
VOTE:  In Favor: ____ Opposed:  ____ Abstained: _____ 



TAB III.E 

RESOLUTION 2021-08-05: NB TID 20-21 BUDGET AMENDMENT 
 



RESOLUTION 2021 -08-05 
 
A RESOLUTION OF THE DOWNTOWN INVESTMENT AUTHORITY 
ACTING AS THE COMMUNITY REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY BOARD 
OF THE COMBINED NORTHSIDE EAST AND NORTHWEST CRA’S 
ADOPTING AN FY 20-21 AMENDED TAX INCREMENT DISTRICT 
(“TID”) BUDGET AS DETAILED IN EXHIBIT ‘A’ ATTACHED HERETO 
FOR THE COMBINED NORTHSIDE EAST AND NORTHWEST CRA’S 
PURSUANT TO SEC. 163.387, F.S. AND SEC. 106.341, ORDINANCE 
CODE; PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 
  
WHEREAS, in accordance with Sec. 106.340-106.346, Ordinance Code, the Board has 

been given authority to allocate and transfer funds within the CRA budget in accordance with the 
provisions of those sections, without further Council approval; and 
 

WHEREAS, pursuant to section 106.342, any excess funds remaining after remaining 
after completion of a Program, Plan Capital Project, Plan Professional Service, or after payment 
for a specific financial obligation within the Financial Obligation Category is made shall be 
transferred to the Unallocated Plan Authorized Expenditures within the Plan Authorized 
Expenditures Category for future allocation as determined by the CRA Board; and 
 

WHEREAS, prior to the end of a fiscal year, funds within the Unallocated Planned 
Authorized Expenditures category within that fiscal year shall be transferred by board action; 
and 

WHEREAS, the DIA board hereby authorizes the amendment of the 2020-21 NB TID 
budget to allocate all excess funds from current year financial obligations and all remaining 
unallocated funds. 
   

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Downtown Investment Authority: 
 

Section 1.  The DIA finds that the recitals set forth above are true and correct and are 
incorporated herein by this reference. 

 
Section 2.   The DIA amends the FY 20-21 budget in accordance with Exhibit ‘A’ 

attached hereto and directs staff of the DIA to prepare and file a CRA Budget Transfer Form as 
necessary to effectuate the purposes of this Resolution. 

 
Section 3.   The DIA Board hereby authorizes the CEO to take all actions necessary to 

effectuate the intent of this Resolution. 
 
Section 4.  This Resolution shall become effective on the date it is signed by the 

Chair of the DIA Board. 
 

[SIGNATURES ON FOLLOWING PAGE]
 

 
 
 



RESOLUTION 2021-08-05 
PAGE 2 OF 3 
 
 
WITNESS:              DOWNTOWN INVESTMENT AUTHORITY 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
______________________          
     W. Braxton Gillam, Esq., Chair Date 
 
 
 
 
 
 
VOTE:  In Favor: ____ Opposed:  ____ Abstained: _____ 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



RESOLUTION 2021-08-05 
PAGE 3 OF 3 
 

 
RESOLUTION 2021-08-05 

EXHIBIT ‘A’ 
 
FROM:  UNALLOCATED PLANNED AUTHORIZED EXPENDITURES: $729,366 
TO:   FINANCIAL OBLIGATIONS, MPS: $729,366 
      
 
FROM: HALLMARK 220 RIVERSIDE REV GRANT: $37,449.84 
  POPE & LAND REV GRANT: $22,958.22 
  LOFTS AT JEFFERSON STATION REV GRANT: $87,155.16 
 
TOTAL FROM CURRENT YEAR FINANCIAL OBLIGATIONS: $147,563.22 
 
TO:  BANNERS AND BANNER ARM REPLACEMENT: $75,000 
TO:  PARKS AND PROGRAMMING: $72,563.22 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 



TAB III.F 

RESOLUTION 2021-08-06: SS TID INVESTMENT POOL EARNINGS 



RESOLUTION 2021 -08-06 
 
A RESOLUTION OF THE DOWNTOWN INVESTMENT AUTHORITY 
ACTING AS THE COMMUNITY REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY BOARD 
OF THE SOUTHSIDE COMMUNITY RED REQUESTING THAT CITY 
COUNCIL APPROPRIATE PREVIOUSLY UNAPPROPRIATED FY 20-21 
INVESTMENT POOL EARNINGS TO FUTURE YEARS DEBT 
REDUCTION; PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 
  
WHEREAS, within the Southside CRA fund there are unappropriated FY 20-21 

Investment Pool Earnings; and 
 

WHEREAS, the DIA has requested that interest and investment pool earnings from FY 
20/21 be budgeted as part of the FY 21/22 budget process however the actual amount is 
unavailable to us as they have not been posted in the accounting system; and  

 
WHEREAS, there will exist at fiscal year-end  an as yet undetermined balance of  

Interest and Investment Pool Earnings within the CRA trust fund available for designation by the 
CRA and appropriation; and  
 

WHEREAS, the Finance and Budget Committee of the DIA has recommended that the 
previously unbudgeted Investment Pool Earnings through fiscal year end be appropriated to the 
Future Years Debt Reduction as authorized by state statute. 
  

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Downtown Investment Authority: 
 

Section 1.  The DIA finds that the recitals set forth above are true and correct and are 
incorporated herein by this reference. 

 
Section 2.   The DIA requests that City Council appropriate any unappropriated 

Investment Pool Earnings to Future Years Debt Reduction. 
 
Section 3.   The DIA Board hereby authorizes the CEO to take all actions necessary to 

effectuate the intent of this Resolution. 
 
Section 4.  This Resolution shall become effective on the date it is signed by the 

Chair of the DIA Board. 
 

WITNESS:              DOWNTOWN INVESTMENT AUTHORITY 
 
 
 
______________________          
     W. Braxton Gillam, Esq., Chair  Date 
 
 
 
VOTE:  In Favor: ____ Opposed:  ____ Abstained: _____ 



TAB III.G 

RESOLUTION 201-08-07: SS TID 20-21 BUDGET AMENDMENT 



RESOLUTION 2021 -08-07 
 
A RESOLUTION OF THE DOWNTOWN INVESTMENT AUTHORITY 
ACTING AS THE COMMUNITY REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY BOARD 
OF THE SOUTHSIDE COMMUNITY REDEVELOPMENT AREA 
(“CRA”) ADOPTING AN FY 20-21 AMENDED TAX INCREMENT 
DISTRICT (“TID”) BUDGET AS DETAILED IN EXHIBIT ‘A’ 
ATTACHED HERETO FOR THE SOUTHSIDE CRA, PURSUANT TO 
SEC. 163.387, F.S. AND SEC. 106.341, ORDINANCE CODE; PROVIDING 
AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 
  
WHEREAS, in accordance with Sec. 106.340-106.346, Ordinance Code, the Board has 

been given authority to allocate and transfer funds within the CRA budget in accordance with the 
provisions of those sections, without further Council approval; and 
 

WHEREAS, pursuant to section 106.342, any excess funds remaining after remaining 
after completion of a Program, Plan Capital Project, Plan Professional Service, or after payment 
for a specific financial obligation within the Financial Obligation Category is made shall be 
transferred to the Unallocated Plan Authorized Expenditures within the Plan Authorized 
Expenditures Category for future allocation as determined by the CRA Board; and 
 

WHEREAS, prior to the end of a fiscal year, funds within the Unallocated Planned 
Authorized Expenditures category within that fiscal year shall be transferred by board action; 
and 

WHEREAS, the DIA board hereby authorizes the amendment of the 2020-21 SS TID 
budget, 
   

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Downtown Investment Authority: 
 

Section 1.  The DIA finds that the recitals set forth above are true and correct and are 
incorporated herein by this reference. 

 
Section 2.   The DIA amends the FY 20-21 budget in accordance with Exhibit ‘A’ 

attached hereto and directs staff of the DIA to prepare and file a CRA Budget Transfer Form as 
necessary to effectuate the purposes of this Resolution. 

 
Section 3.   The DIA Board hereby authorizes the CEO to take all actions necessary to 

effectuate the intent of this Resolution. 
 
Section 4.  This Resolution shall become effective on the date it is signed by the 

Chair of the DIA Board. 
 

 
[SIGNATURES ON FOLLOWING PAGE]

 
 
 
 



RESOLUTION 2021-08-07 
PAGE 2 OF 3 
 
 
WITNESS:              DOWNTOWN INVESTMENT AUTHORITY 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
______________________          
     W. Braxton Gillam, Esq., Chair Date 
 
 
 
 
 
 
VOTE:  In Favor: ____ Opposed:  ____ Abstained: _____ 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



RESOLUTION 2021-08-07 
PAGE 3 OF 3 
 

 
RESOLUTION 2021-08-07 

EXHIBIT ‘A’ 
 
FROM: THE STRAND REV GRANT: $42,402.93 
FROM: THE PENINSULA REV GRANT: $53,713.20 
FROM: ONE CALL CRP: $13,191 
FROM: UNALLOCATED PLANNED AUTHORIZED EXPENDITURES: $175,250.75 
 
TOTAL FROM:  $284,557.88 
 
TO:  FINANCIAL OBLIGATION: RIVERS EDGE (THE DISTRICT): $250,000.00 
TO:  FUTURE YEARS DEBT REDUCTION: $34,557.88 
       
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 



TAB III.H 

RESOLUTION 2021-08-08: SS TID 20-21 BUDGET AMENDMENT 



RESOLUTION 2021 -08-08 
 
A RESOLUTION OF THE DOWNTOWN INVESTMENT AUTHORITY 
ACTING AS THE COMMUNITY REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY BOARD 
OF THE SOUTHSIDE COMMUNITY REDEVELOPMENT AREA (“CRA”) 
ADOPTING AN FY 20-21 AMENDED TAX INCREMENT DISTRICT 
(“TID”) BUDGET AS DETAILED IN EXHIBIT ‘A’ ATTACHED HERETO 
FOR THE SOUTHSIDE CRA, PURSUANT TO SEC. 163.387, F.S. AND SEC. 
106.341, ORDINANCE CODE; PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 
  
WHEREAS, in accordance with Sec. 106.340-106.346, Ordinance Code, the Board has 

been given authority to allocate and transfer funds within the CRA budget in accordance with the 
provisions of those sections, without further Council approval; and 
 

WHEREAS, a substantial balance has accumulated in the Future Years Debt Reduction 
activity, and the obligation to fund the CRA Improvements at the Rivers Edge (The District) will 
begin to be paid in the immediate future; and  
 

WHEREAS, in order to provide all available funding for this obligation, the DIA wishes 
to transfer $750,000. For the Future Years Debt Reduction activity to the specific financial 
obligation for Rivers Edge (The District); and 

 
WHEREAS, the DIA board hereby authorizes the amendment of the 2020-21 SS TID 

budge to recognize such transfer. 
   

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Downtown Investment Authority: 
 

Section 1.  The DIA finds that the recitals set forth above are true and correct and are 
incorporated herein by this reference. 

 
Section 2.   The DIA amends the FY 20-21 budget in accordance with Exhibit ‘A’ 

attached hereto and directs staff of the DIA to prepare and file a CRA Budget Transfer Form as 
necessary to effectuate the purposes of this Resolution. 

 
Section 3.   The DIA Board hereby authorizes the CEO to take all actions necessary to 

effectuate the intent of this Resolution. 
 
Section 4.  This Resolution shall become effective on the date it is signed by the Chair 

of the DIA Board. 
 
 

 
[SIGNATURES ON FOLLOWING PAGE]

 
 
 
 
 
 



RESOLUTION 2021-08-08 
PAGE 2 OF 3 
 
 
WITNESS:              DOWNTOWN INVESTMENT AUTHORITY 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
______________________          
     W. Braxton Gillam, Esq., Chair Date 
 
 
 
 
 
 
VOTE:  In Favor: ____ Opposed:  ____ Abstained: _____ 



RESOLUTION 2021-08-08 
PAGE 3 OF 3 
 
 

 
RESOLUTION 2021-08-08 

EXHIBIT ‘A’ 
 

 
 
 
 

FROM: FUTURE YEARS FINANCIAL OBLIGATIONS:  $750,000.00 
 
TO:  FINANCIAL OBLIGATION: RIVERS EDGE (THE DISTRICT): $750,000.00 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



TAB III.I 

RESOLUTION 2021-08-09: TERMINATION OF ISP-0307-20 



RESOLUTION 2021-08-09 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE DOWNTOWN INVESTMENT AUTHORITY 
(“DIA”) ADOPTING THE RETAIL ENHANCMENT AND PROPERTY 
DISPOSTION COMMITTEE’S RECOMMENDATION TO TERMINATE 
NEGOTIATIONS WITH SPANDREL DEVELOPMENT PARTNERS, THE 
HIGHEST RANKED PROPOSAL TO ISP-0307-20; REJECT ALL 
PROPOSALS RELATING TO ISP-0307-20; TERMINATE ISP-0307-20 
(THE “NOTICE”); PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE.  
 

 WHEREAS, via the adoption of Resolution 2019-09-03, the DIA instructed its Chief 
Executive Officer (“CEO”), through the City’s Procurement Division with the assistance of 
CBRE, Inc. , to seek proposals for the development of the City-Owned property located at 220 
East Bay Street and 330 East Bay Street  together with submerged lands associated therewith 
(the “Project”); and 
 

WHEREAS, on October 21, 2019, the DIA through the City’s Procurement Division 
issued ISP-0307-20 (the “Notice”) for the proposed development of the Project; and 
 

WHEREAS, after a notice period satisfying the minimum requirements of Section 
163.380, Florida Statutes, and Section 122.434, Jacksonville Code of Ordinances, two (2) 
proposals meeting the minimum requirements set forth were received by the January 22, 2020, 
proposal opening deadline; and   

 
 WHEREAS, in accordance with the evaluation criteria set forth in the Notice, Spandrel  
Development Partners was determined to have submitted the highest ranked proposal (the 
“Response”) by the Evaluation Committee at their publicly noticed meeting held February 11, 
2020; and 
 

WHEREAS, via adoption of Resolution 2020-02-01, effective February 21, 2020, the 
DIA adopted the Recommendation of the Retail Enhancement and Property Disposition 
Committee and the Evaluation Committee by selecting Spandrel Development Partners as the 
highest-ranking proposer received pursuant to the Notice; and 

 
WHEREAS, as a result of COVID 19, the negotiation was delayed but has continued 

over the last year and while Spandrel Development Partners remains interested in the Property, 
they are unwilling to proceed on the terms of the initial ISP response and have proposed terms 
that are a material departure from the 2020 award; and  

 
WHEREAS other interested parties have expressed the desire to present proposals on 

parcels subject to the ISP; and 
 
WHEREAS, ISP 0307-20 required the negotiation of a letter of intent within 30 days 

from notification of selection and negotiation of a detailed development Agreement within 120 
days of selection; and 

 



RESOLUTION 2021-08-09 
Page 2 OF 2 
 

WHEREAS, ISP 0307-20 expressly reserves to the City the right to accept or reject any 
proposal with or without cause; 

 
WHEREAS, the Retail Enhancement and Property Disposition Committee met on 

August 13, 2021, and, after deliberating voted to recommend to the DIA Board that negotiations 
with Spandrel Development Partners be terminated and that the DIA Board reject all proposals 
and terminate the Notice,  

 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, by the Downtown Investment Authority: 

 
 Section 1. The DIA finds that the recitals set forth above are true and correct and are 
incorporated herein by this reference.   
 

Section 2.    The DIA hereby adopts the recommendation of the Retail Enhancement 
and Property Disposition Committee to terminate negotiations with Spandrel Development 
Partners related to ISP-0307-20, reject all proposals and terminate the Notice.  
 

Section 3.    The DIA hereby instructs its CEO to take all action necessary to effectuate 
the purpose of this Resolution 
 
 Section 4. This Resolution shall become effective on the date it is signed by the 
Chair of the DIA Board. 
 
 
WITNESS:     DOWNTOWN INVESTMENT AUTHORITY 
 
 
 
 
 
           _______ 
      W. Braxton Gillam, Esq., Chairman  Date 
 
 
 
 
 
VOTE:  In Favor:      Opposed:    Abstained:   



TAB III.K 

RESOLUTION 2021-08-12: PORTER HOUSE MANSION 



RESOLUTION 2021-08-12 
PAGE 1 
 

1 

RESOLUTION 2021-08-12 
 
A RESOLUTION OF THE DOWNTOWN INVESTMENT AUTHORITY (“DIA”) 
RECOMMENDING THAT CITY COUNCIL APPROVE A DOWNTOWN 
PRESERVATION AND REVITALIZATION PROGRAM FORGIVABLE LOAN 
PACKAGE  FOR RENOVATIONS TO THE THOMAS V. PORTER HOUSE BUILDING 
LOCATED AT 510 N JULIA ST (THE “PROPERTY”) PURSUANT TO A 
REDEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT WITH  JWB REAL ESTATE CAPITAL (“JWB”) 
OR ASSIGNS (“DEVELOPER”); FINDING THAT THE PLAN OF DEVELOPMENT IS 
CONSISTENT WITH THE DIA’S BUSINESS INVESTMENT AND DEVELOPMENT 
PLAN (“BID PLAN”) AND THE NORTH BANK DOWNTOWN AND SOUTHSIDE 
COMMUNITY REDEVELOPMENT AREA PLAN (“CRA PLAN”); AUTHORIZING 
THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER TO EXECUTE THE CONTRACTS AND 
DOCUMENTS AND OTHERWISE TAKE ALL NECESSARY ACTION IN 
CONNECTION THEREWITH TO EFFECTUATE THE PURPOSES OF THIS 
RESOLUTION; PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE.  
 

WHEREAS, JWB is the owner of the Property which is in the process of being designated 
a local historic landmark pursuant to Ordinance 2021-0377 and is located within the National 
Historic District of Downtown and within the boundaries of the Downtown Northbank CRA; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Developer proposes to renovate the Thomas V. Porter House into a 

minimum of 4,300 square feet of shell retail/restaurant space and 10,000 square feet of office 
space; and 

WHEREAS, the increased private capital investment totaling not less than $2,956,869 in 
real property will increase the county ad valorem tax base over the useful life of the assets, will 
increase the availability of office space units for Downtown businesses and increase restaurant 
activity in Downtown Jacksonville; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Strategic Implementation Committee of the Downtown Investment 
Authority (“DIA”) met on  August 16, 2021 to consider the term sheet and recommendation of 
DPRP Program Forgivable Loans in accordance with the program guidelines established by City 
Council in accordance with the terms contained in the term sheet attached hereto as Exhibit A; and 

 
NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the Downtown Investment Authority: 

 
Section 1. The DIA finds that the recitals set forth above are true and correct and are 

incorporated herein by this reference.   

Section 2.  The DIA instructs the Chief Executive Officer of the Downtown Investment 
Authority to take all necessary actions, including the filing of legislation before the City Council, 
to seek DPRP funding of up to $669,581 pursuant to the Downtown Preservation and 



RESOLUTION 2021-08-12 
PAGE 2 
 

2 

Revitalization Program guidelines in accordance with the terms set forth on the term sheet attached 
hereto as Exhibit A.  

Section 3.  The Chief Executive Officer is hereby authorized to execute the contracts 
and documents and otherwise take all necessary action in connection therewith to effectuate the 
purposes of this Resolution. 

Section 4. The Effective Date of this Resolution is the date upon execution of this 
Resolution by the Chair of the DIA Board. 

 
WITNESS:      DOWNTOWN INVESTMENT AUTHORITY 
 
 
 
 
______________________            

Braxton Gillam, Chairman  Date 
 
 
 
 
VOTE:  In Favor: ________ Opposed:  _________ Abstained: ______ 
  



RESOLUTION 2021-08-12 
PAGE 3 
 

3 

 
Exhibit A: 

DOWNTOWN PRESERVATION AND REVITALIZATION PROGRAM 
TERM SHEET 

Thomas V. Porter House  
 
Project: The project comprises the redevelopment of a historic property in the Church District of 
Downtown Jacksonville utilizing funding through the Downtown Preservation and Revitalization Program 
(“DPRP”). 
  
The Thomas V. Porter House (“Porter House”) located at 510 N Julia St, RE# 073849-0005, is a historic 
three-story building consisting of approximately 14,364 square feet designed by Henry Klutho and built in 
1902. Upon completion, the project will provide a minimum of 4,300 sqft of shell retail/restaurant space 
and 10,000 sqft of office space. Developer will be renovating floors 1-3, approximately 10,000 square feet, 
for a single office user.  The basement, approximately 4,332 square feet, will be renovated into a cold 
white shell for a future restaurant.  Renovations include, but are not limited to, adding an ADA lift, 
replacement of an egress stairwell, interior ADA work, fire alarm, sprinkler system, interior bathroom 
remodel, siding repair, and paint. 
 
Developer/ Applicant / Borrower:  JWB Real Estate Capital or Assigns (“JWB”) 
Total Development Costs (estimate):  $3,053,677 
Equity (proposed):  $459,015 (15.0% of Underwritten TDC)  
 
City Funding: No more than $535,666 (through the City of Jacksonville Downtown Investment Authority), 
as follows: 
 

 Historic 
Preservation, 

Restoration, and 
Rehabilitation 

Forgivable Loan 
(HPRR) 

Code Compliance 
Forgivable Loan (CCR) 

DPRP Deferred 
Principal Loan TOTAL 

As Underwritten $277,186 $258,479 $   133,916 $669,581 
 
At this level, the incentive structure and funding under the DPRP will be subject to further approvals by 
the Jacksonville City Council.  
 
All funding is made at the time of completion and following inspection with criteria approved by the DIA  
and the Historic Preservation Section of the COJ Planning and Development Department at the time of 
underwriting. Should Total Development Costs as underwritten fall below $2,956,869, the DPRP Loan 
Amounts will be reduced proportionately. This amount equates to a 10% reduction in the proposed 



RESOLUTION 2021-08-12 
PAGE 4 
 

4 

Construction Budget alone. Should the Construction Budget as underwritten ($968,077) fall by more than 
10%, but less than 15%, the DIA Board shall approve revisions to the DPRP Loan Amounts. 
 
Infrastructure: No City of Jacksonville infrastructure improvements are contemplated.  
Land: No City of Jacksonville land is committed to the project.  
Loans: No other loans, grants, or other funding from the City of Jacksonville are contemplated for this 
project, although commercial tenants leasing space within these Properties may be eligible for funding 
under separate programs.  
 
No costs may be submitted for duplicative funding under more than one DIA incentive program. However, 
costs incurred by the DPRP Applicant may count towards their required contribution under the Retail 
Enhancement Program to the extent such costs are directly attributable to space that would be occupied 
by the REP Grant Applicant. 
 
Minimum Capital Contribution:  

A) The minimum total equity capital contribution through completion to remain eligible for the 
maximum DPRP Funding as outlined is $459,095.  

B) The minimum Total Development Cost for the Project as underwritten is $2,956,869, which 
includes the appraised value of the property at $1,670,000. Note: This is the minimum for 
maximum funding as applied for and underwritten. The Projects may be eligible for funding at 
lower levels subject to maintaining compliance with DPRP Guidelines. 

 
Performance Schedule:  

A) Redevelopment Agreement to be executed within thirty (30) days of the Bill Effective Date. 
B) Commencement of Construction: Within three (3) months following the Redevelopment 

Agreement Effective Date, Applicant commits to commencement of construction, meaning 
receipt of all required approvals, permitting, and closing on all required financing to allow the 
start of construction activities and has actually broken ground to begin work.  

C) Substantial Completion: Within twelve (12) months following Commencement of Construction as 
defined above.  

D) The DIA CEO will have authority to extend this Performance Schedule, in the CEO’s discretion, for 
up to three (3) months for good cause shown by the Developer / Applicant. Any extensions to the 
Commencement Date shall have the same effect of extending the Completion Date 
simultaneously. 

 
Additional Commitments: 

A) The Developer commits to the development of:  
1. A minimum of 10,000 of Commercial Office Space.  
2. A minimum of 4,300 square feet of retail/restaurant space. 

B) Recommendation as to the eligibility of the approved scope of work on the Properties by the 
Planning and Development Department shall be required prior to DIA Board approval of any 
program funding. Such recommendation by the Planning and Development Department may be 



RESOLUTION 2021-08-12 
PAGE 5 
 

5 

conditional on further review and approvals by the State Historic Preservation Office (“SHPO”) 
and/or the National Park Service (“NPS”). 

C) Upon completion and request for funding, all work on the Properties must be inspected by the 
Planning and Development Department or designee for compliance with the approved application 
prior to funding under any DPRP loan component. 

D) Funding under the DPRP will be secured by a stand-alone, subordinate lien position on the 
Property behind any senior secured, third-party lender providing construction, mini-perm, or 
permanent financing. 

E) Each DPRP loan will be cross defaulted with one another. 
F) Payment defaults, or other defaults that trigger legal actions against the Applicant that endanger 

the lien position of the City, shall also be a default on the subject facilities. 
G) As JWB will be utilizing a combination of HPRR Forgivable Loans, and CCR Forgivable Loans,  the 

maturity of each of these Forgivable Loan will be five (5) years. Principal outstanding under each 
note will be forgiven at the rate of 20% annually, on the anniversary date of each such funding, 
so long as each Forgivable Loan is not in default per DPRP Guidelines. 

H) Standard claw back provisions will apply such that: 
a) In the event the Borrower sells, leases, or otherwise transfers the Historic Building during 

the first five (5) years after the disbursement of the Forgivable Loans, the following shall be 
due and payable at closing of the Sale: 

i. 100% if the Sale occurs within 12 months after disbursement of the Forgivable Loan; 
ii. 80% if the Sale occurs after 12 months but within 24 months of disbursement of the 

Forgivable Loan; 
iii. 60% if the Sale occurs after 24 months but within 36 months of disbursement of the 

Forgivable Loan; 
iv. 40% if the Sale occurs after 36 months but within 48 months of disbursement of the 

Forgivable Loan; or 
v. 20% if the Sale occurs after 48 months but within 60 months of disbursement of the 

Forgivable Loan. 
b) In the event Borrower or any lessee or assignee of the Borrower uses the Project or the 

Historic Property or Properties for any use not contemplated by this Agreement at any time 
within five years following the disbursement of the Forgivable Loan, the full amount of the 
Grant, together with all accrued but unpaid interest thereon, shall immediately become due 
and payable to the City by the Borrower. 

I) Funding in the amount of the DPRP Deferred Principal Loan component will have a stated 
maturity date of ten years from the Funding Date. The loan balance is due in full upon maturity, 
sale, or refinancing of the property prior to maturity subject to terms of the disposition and value 
of the property at the time of such event. 

J) The DPRP Deferred Principal Loan component requires fixed annual interest payments equal to 
the total principal outstanding multiplied by the prevailing Ten-Year Treasury Note Rate at the 
time established for closing. 

K) Partial Principal reductions on the DPRP Deferred Principal Loan may be made after the fifth 
anniversary with no prepayment penalty; however, a minimum of 50% of the initial loan balance 



RESOLUTION 2021-08-12 
PAGE 6 
 

6 

must remain outstanding through the loan maturity date unless the Property or Properties are 
sold or refinanced during that period, subject to DIA approval. 

L) DIA reserves the right to approve any sale, disposition of collateral property, or refinance of senior 
debt during the DPRP Compliance Period. It is anticipated that the Applicant will increase the debt 
on the property upon stabilization to minimize interest costs during the construction period. 
Maximum debt after refinance is established at $1,925,000.  

M) All Property, business, and income taxes must be current at the time of application and 
maintained in current status throughout the approval process, the term of the Redevelopment 
Agreement, and through the DPRP loan period. 

N) Payment defaults, bankruptcy filings, or other material defaults during the DPRP loan period will 
trigger the right for the City of Jacksonville to accelerate all amounts funded and outstanding 
under any or all programs at such time, plus a 20% penalty of any amounts amortized or prepaid 
prior to that date. 

 
There will be additional terms, conditions, rights, responsibilities, warranties, and obligations for both 
parties which shall be determined in a later negotiated mutually agreeable written contract (or multiple 
written contracts as is deemed necessary). 
 



SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION 

PORTER HOUSE MANSION – STAFF REPORT 



 

1 
 

DIA Downtown Preservation and Revitalization Program 
Staff Report 

 
Porter House Mansion 

510 Julia Street 
 

July 27, 2021 
 
Applicant:    JWB Real Estate Capital (“JWB”) or Assigns 
Project: Thomas V. Porter House 
 
Program Request: Downtown Preservation and Rehabilitation Program (“DPRP”) 
  
Total Development Costs (as submitted): $3,244,676 
Total Development Costs (as underwritten): $2,900,289 
 
DPRP Requested:  

1) Historic Preservation Restoration and Rehabilitation Forgivable Loan (HPRR) $   277,329 
2) Code Compliance Renovations Forgivable Loan (CCR) $   274,819 
 $   552,149 

DPRP Recommended: 
1) Historic Preservation Restoration and Rehabilitation Forgivable Loan (HPRR) $   277,186 
2) Code Compliance Renovations Forgivable Loan (CCR) $   258,479 
 $   535,666 

Project Background: 
The subject project includes the redevelopment of the historic Thomas V. Porter House property located 
at 510 Julia Street, known as the Porter House Mansion. In alignment with the purpose of the DPRP, 
proposed funding would be used for preservation and revitalization of unoccupied, underutilized, and/or 
deteriorating historic, and qualified non-historic, buildings located in downtown Jacksonville in the Central 
Core District of Downtown Jacksonville as discussed further below. 
 
The Porter House Mansion is a three-story building consisting of approximately 14,364 square feet 
designed by Henry Klutho and built in 1902.  It is a contributing structure listed in the Florida Master Site 
File and in the Florida National Register of Historic Places.  Developer has filed for local historic landmark 
designation which is proceeding through City Council as ordinance 2021-0377 at the time of this 
underwriting.  

The Porter House Mansion was listed on the National Register of Historic Places in 1976 and highlighted 
in the Jacksonville Architectural Heritage book.  
 
In its conditional conceptual approval of May 27, 2021, staff for the Historic Preservation Section of the 
Planning and Development Department notes that, “The landmark report for the structure found that it 
met six (6) out of the seven (7) applicable criteria outlined in Chapter 307, Ordinance Code. The significance 
of the building relates to it being the last remaining example of the grand residences once associated with 



 

2 
 

this area of downtown; its Neoclassical architectural style; the owner, Thomas V. Porter’s contributions to 
the city and state; the architect, Henry John Klutho’s contributions; the structure’s quality of construction; 
and its suitability for preservation.” Further, “The application for locally designating the Thomas V. Porter 
Residence was recently reviewed by the Historic Preservation Commission for landmark status on May 26, 
2021 and has been forwarded to City Council for final approval. Based on this pending landmark 
designation status, the structure can be considered for funding under the DPRP.” 
 
Figure 1. - Thomas V. Porter House, 501 N. Julia Street 
 

 
Photo Credit: JLL Valuation & Advisory Services, LLC, Appraisal dated July 29, 2020 

 
Redevelopment plans for the project include a minimum of 4,300 sqft of shell retail/restaurant space and 
10,000 square feet of office space. Developer will be renovating floors 1-3, approximately 10,000 square 
feet, for a single office user.  The basement, approximately 4,300 square feet, will be renovated into a 
cold white shell for a future restaurant.  Renovations include, but are not limited to, adding an ADA lift, 
replacement of an egress stairwell, interior ADA work, fire alarm, sprinkler system, interior bathroom 
remodel, siding repair, and paint. 
 
The redevelopment of this property is in close proximity to other redevelopment efforts underway 
including: Ambassador Hotel directly across Church Street, Independent Life building on the opposite 
corner of Church Street and Julia Street, the Baptist Convention building and Federal Reserve building one 
block east on Church Street. Jones brothers and future development activity of the First Baptist Church 
property is also within one to three blocks from this site. All of this activity is approximately one to three 
blocks to the west and northwest of Jacksonville City Hall as shown in Figure 2. below. 
 



 

3 
 

 
Figure 2. – Area Development 
 
 
 

 
 
 
Developer: 
JWB Capital was founded in 2006 by Alex Sifakis (now President) and Gregg Cohen, and subsequently 
added partners Adam Eiseman (now CEO) and Adam Rigel. The firm was recently highlighted in a 
Jacksonville Business Journal cover story for the impact they are making across the Jacksonville market: 
https://www.bizjournals.com/jacksonville/news/2020/11/20/jwb-from-flipping-homes-to-history.html 
 
Company highlights from that article and other sources include: 

• Revenue for 2019 of $113.67 million 
• Number of rental homes owned by JWB: approximately 400 
• Total number of rental homes managed by JWB: 3,676 
• Number of Employees: 79 
• Acquired the Town and Country shopping center in Arlington and is converting it to a mixed-use 

development. 
• JWB has eight times been named a top 50 fastest growing company in Jacksonville (most recently 

#35 in 2019), and seven times been named a Best Place to Work. 
• JWB has been invested in the community and has been named a Company with Heart by 904 

Magazine on multiple occasions for its dedication to community service.  
• JWB was given the 2017 Affordable Housing Award from NEFBA 

 
Serving as the primary point of contact on this redevelopment effort, Sifakis is a 2005 graduate of the 
University of Florida with a BS in marketing and is also a licensed residential contractor and real estate 
broker in the State of Florida. He serves on the boards of Downtown Vision, Inc. and Habitat for Humanity 

Subject – Porter House Mansion 

Ambassador Hotel 

Independent Life 

Baptist Convention Building 

Federal Reserve 

City Hall 

Jones Bros. 

https://www.bizjournals.com/jacksonville/news/2020/11/20/jwb-from-flipping-homes-to-history.html
https://www.bizjournals.com/jacksonville/news/2020/11/20/jwb-from-flipping-homes-to-history.html


 

4 
 

of Jacksonville and is a graduate of Leadership Jacksonville (2014) and Leadership Florida Connect (2018-
2019). 
 
Out of respect for public discovery and disclosure, the firm provided two bank reference letters (BBVA 
Compass and Hancock Whitney) in lieu of personal tax returns and financial statements. Each letter is 
dated within December 2020 and attests to the sound credit and depository relationship maintained by 
JWB and JWB Property Management. 
 
Development Budget: 
The total development budget of $2,900,289 is $344,387 below the development budget as presented 
centered in use of the appraised amount for the value of the building, and elimination of the operating 
reserve prior to stabilization. The appraisal of the property was performed by JLL Valuation & Advisory 
Services, LLC and provided a value for the building, “As is” of $1,670,000 ($116.27 psf) as of July 22, 2020. 
The prospective Market Value upon Completion is $2,100,000 ($146.20 psf), and upon stabilization the 
property is anticipated to have a value of $3,110,000 ($216.51 psf). 
 
The construction budget as presented totals $980,262 and was revised slightly to $968,077, primarily due 
to the incorporation of higher-than-expected contingency values. At the adjusted value, the construction 
costs total $67.40 per square foot, which increases to $85.65 per square foot with the inclusion of 
$262,212 in budgeted soft costs. 
 
Operating Budget: 
The operating budget provided proposes office rents would be established at $16 psf, and restaurant rents 
would be established at $10 psf. While these are below the averages being realized in the Northbank CRA, 
they are set at conservative levels to facilitate lease up and stabilization. In the first year of stabilization, 
Net Operating Income is calculated at $96,052 and increases to a projected $190,865 through year 10. 
With NOI increased by 20%, gap funding is still considered a requirement as the pre-tax, levered IRR 
without support would equal only an estimated 8.56% at this level. Return on invested capital is shown to 
be 2.2% using the unadjusted NOI and increases to 2.86% at the adjusted NOI. 
 
Request and Structure: 
To facilitate redevelopment of these properties, the Applicant requests approval of funding under the 
DPRP totaling $552,149. As will be outlined in more detail below, the recommendation from DIA Staff is 
for DPRP funding in the amount of $535,666 to be structured as follows: 
 

 Historic 
Preservation, 

Restoration, and 
Rehabilitation 

Forgivable Loan 
(HPRR) 

Code Compliance 
Forgivable Loan (CCR) 

DPRP Deferred 
Principal Loan TOTAL 

As Requested $277,329 $274,819 $   0 $552,149 
As Underwritten $277,186 $258,479 $   0 $535,666 

 



 

5 
 

At this level, the incentive structure and funding under the DPRP will be subject to further approvals by 
the Jacksonville City Council. 
 
All funding is made at the time of completion and following inspection with criteria approved by the DIA  
and the Historic Preservation Section of the COJ Planning and Development Department at the time of 
underwriting. Should Total Development Costs as underwritten fall below $2,900,289, the DPRP Loan 
Amounts will be reduced proportionately. Should Total Development Costs as underwritten fall by more 
than 10%, but less than 15%, the DIA Board shall approve revisions to the DPRP Loan Amounts. 
 
Underwriting this application established the need for financial support from the City based on the 
redevelopment costs for the building, deemed important to the activation of Jacksonville’s historic 
building stock and consistent with the goals of the BID and CRA plan as well as the stated purpose of the 
Downtown Preservation and Revitalization Program. 
 
Total equity of $1,864,312 (64.3% of TDC as underwritten) well exceeds the minimum requirement of 
10%, and allows DPRP funding up to 50% of TDC, and surpasses the 25% minimum to avoid requirement 
of the DPRP Deferred Principal Loan. As such the DPRP Deferred Principal Loan is not required to be 
established at a minimum of 20% of total DPRP funding for this request. 
 
Each of these parameters for the for the Porter House Mansion are captured in Figure 3. below: 
 
Figure 3. – DPRP Parameters for Porter House Mansion 
 

 
 
As shown above, developer equity in the Church Street Building equals 64.1% of TDC as underwritten, 
which exceeds the minimum requirement of 50% of TDC. Redevelopment of the property is proposed to 
be supported by a HPRR Forgivable Loan of $277,186, and a CCR Forgivable Loan of $258,479. Program 
guidelines allow for the HPRR and CCR Forgivable Loans to amortize concurrently with principal forgiven 
at the rate of 20% annually over a five-year period. 

Total from Const Budget 968,077$                                   

Sources As Calculated
Federal Historic Tax Credit -$                                            0.0% Measurement % of TDC Net of Developer Fee Project

HPRR Forgivable Loan 277,186$                                   9.6% Developer Equity 10% Min of TDC 64.0%
CCR Forgivable Loan 258,479$                                   8.9% 3rd Party Loan No min or max 17.5%
DPRP Def Prin Loan -$                                            0.0% Subsidy or Tax Credit No min or max 0.0%
Other COJ Funding -$                                            0.0% Developer Combined 50% Min of TDC 81.5%

1st Position Debt 508,974$                                   17.5% DPRP
Owner Equity 1,855,650$                                64.0% Exterior 75% Max of eligible costs

Add'l Capital Needed 0.0% Restoration Int 75% Max of eligible costs
TOTAL SOURCES 2,900,289$                                100.0% Rehabilitation Int 30% Max of eligible costs

Code Compliance 75% Max of eligible costs
Uses Other 20% Max of eligible costs

Value "As Is" 1,670,000$                                57.6% HPRR Forgivable Loan 30% Max of TDC 9.6%
Predevelopment Costs 0.0% CCR Forgivable Loan 30% Max of TDC 8.9%

Construction Costs 968,077$                                   33.4% DPRP Def Prin Loan 20% Max of TDC 0.0%
Soft Costs 262,212$                                   9.0% DPRP Def Prin Loan Min Must be ≥ 20% of Gap N/A

Developer Fee 0.0% Other COJ Funding 0.0%
TOTAL USES 2,900,289$                                100.0% COJ Combined 50% Max of TDC 18.5%

Maximum Funding Level 1,450,145$                                
DPRP Funding 535,665$                                   

ROI 0.545

DPRP Guidelines



 

6 
 

 
 
As shown in Figure 4. Below,  the ROI for the development as proposed and underwritten is satisfactory 
per DPRP Guidelines at 0.54X. 
 
Figure 4. - Porter House Mansion ROI Calculation  
 

 
 
Recommendation: 
DIA Staff recommends approval of a the DPRP loans as outlined herein.  
 
All requirements outlined within the HPS conditional approval or as may be established by the NPS in its 
conditional approval must be incorporated into the redevelopment project and inspected for adherence 
upon completion and prior to funding. 
 
Other conditions and requirements of approval and administration of the subject facilities is captured in 
the Exhibit A Term Sheet. 
 
Staff report prepared by: 
 
Steven T. Kelley, DBA 
Director of Downtown Real Estate and Development 
 

$2.9 Million in Capital Expenditures

Ad Valorem Taxes Generated
County Operating Millage (1) 183,648$            

Local Option Sales Tax (2) 108,150$            

Payroll (3) -$                     

Add'l  Benefits Provided (4) -$                     
Total City Expected Benefits 291,798$              

Total City Investment (5) 535,665$              

Return on Investment Ratio 0.54

(1) - The investment from the Company is estimated to be $2,908,951 in Capital Contribution for development
         and $0 in taxable Tangible Personal Property
(2) - Local Option Sales Tax is based on the revenue generated through retail  sales, food and beverage,
        and commercial leases.
(3) - Job estimates are calculated at # of jobs * avg. wage.  Assumes 20% spent locally and
         a 1 percent sales tax over 20 years. 
(4) - Value of any additional contribution being made for the benefit of the city in consideration of the incentive

Interest on the DPRP Deferred Principal Loan -$                     
PV of DPRP Deferred Principal Repayment $0.00
Other
Total Add'l  Benefits Provided -$                     

(5) - City Incentives as follows:
DPRP 535,665$            
Land -$                     
Other
Total Direct Incentives 535,665$            



TAB IV.A 

JULY 29, 2021 DOWNTOWN INVESTMENT AUTHORITY BOARD MEETING 
MINUTES 



 

Downtown Investment Authority 
Hybrid Meeting 

Thursday, July 29, 2021 – 2:46 p.m.  

Downtown Investment Authority 
MEETING MINUTES 

 
DIA Board Members: Braxton Gillam, Esq., Chairman; Jim Citrano, Secretary; Oliver Barakat; Ron 
Moody; Craig Gibbs, Esq.; David Ward, Esq.; Todd Froats; and Bill Adams, Esq. 
 
DIA Board Members Excused: Carol Worsham, Vice Chair 
 
Mayor’s Staff: None 
 
Council Members: None 
 
DIA Staff: Lori Boyer, Chief Executive Officer; Steve Kelley, Director of Downtown Real Estate 
and Development; Guy Parola, Operations Manager; Lori Radcliffe-Meyers, Redevelopment 
Coordinator; Ina Mezini, Communication and Marketing Specialist; John Crescimbeni, Contract and 
Regulatory Compliance Manager; and Xzavier Chisholm, Administrative Assistant. 
 
Office of General Counsel: Joelle Dillard, Esq. 
 
CALL TO ORDER: Chairman Gillam called to order the Downtown Investment Authority Board 
Meeting at 2:46 p.m. 
 
IV. DOWNTOWN INVESTMENT AUTHORITY MEETING   
 
A. JUNE 16, 2021 DOWNTOWN INVESTMENT AUTHORITY BOARD MEETING 

APPROVAL OF THE MINUTES. 
 
Seeing no comments, Chairman Gillam called for a motion. 
 

Motion: Board Member Moody moved to approve the minutes as presented 
Seconded: Board Member Gibbs seconded the motion 

 
Seeing no comments, Chairman Moody called for a vote. 

 
Vote:  Aye: 8  Nay: 0  Abstain: 0  

 
THE MOTION PASSED UNANIMOUSLY 8-0-0 
 
B. RESOLUTION 2021-07-05: ALLOCATION OF DEVELOPMENT RIGHTS 

 
A RESOLUTION OF THE DOWNTOWN INVESTMENT AUTHORITY (“DIA”) 
ALLOCATING UP TO TWO HUNDRED FORTY-SIX (246) UNITS OF MULTI-



Downtown Investment Authority 
DIA Meeting Minutes – Wednesday, July 29 – 2:46 p.m.   
Page 2 of 5  

FAMILY ENTITLEMENTS WITH MOBILITY FEE CREDITS (WITH AN 
ESTIMATED CREDIT VALUE OF $140,763) TO RD RIVER CITY BREWERY, 
LLC (“DEVELOPER”); AUTHORIZING THE DIA CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
OFFICER TO EXECUTE ANY CONTRACTS AND DOCUMENTS AND 
OTHERWISE TAKE ALL NECESSARY ACTION IN CONNECTION 
THEREWITH TO EFFECTUATE THE PURPOSES OF THIS RESOLUTION; 
PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
Chairman Gillam gave the floor to Mr. Parola to introduce the Resolution. 
Mr. Parola provided an overview of the Resolution, stating that it is an allocation of development 
rights and is aligned with the Board’s previous approval of a redevelopment agreement with Related. 
The timing stems from the abandonment of the DRI as well as DIA’s work with the consultant to 
solidify the math. The Resolution allocates 246 multi-family new development units to the Related 
Group for redevelopment of the River City parcel and includes two clawback provisions. 
Chairman Gillam called for a motion. 
 

Motion: Board Member Froats moved to approve Resolution 2021-07-05 as presented  
Seconded: Board Member Moody seconded the motion 

 
Chairman Gillam opened the floor for discussion.  
Board Member Barakat stated that he will be abstaining. 
Board Member Citrano stated that he will be abstaining. 
Seeing no discussion, Chairman Gillam called for a vote. 
 

Vote:  Aye: 6  Nay: 0  Abstain: 2  
 
THE MOTION PASSED UNANIMOUSLY 6-0-2 
 
C. RESOLUTION 2021-07-06: RON MOODY RECOGNITION AND 

APPRECIATION 
 
DEFERRED. 

 
D. RESOLUTION 2021-07-08: CHRISTMAS IN THE CATHEDRAL DISTRICT 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE DOWNTOWN INVESTMENT AUTHORITY 
AUTHORIZING THE EVENT SPONSORSHIP OF 2021 CHRISTMAS IN THE 
CATHEDRAL; PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
Chairman Gillam gave the floor to CEO Boyer to introduce the resolution. 



Downtown Investment Authority 
DIA Meeting Minutes – Wednesday, July 29 – 2:46 p.m.   
Page 3 of 5  

CEO Boyer provided a brief summary of Resolution 2021-07-08, stating that it seeks to utilize 
$10,000 in this year’s General Fund - Administrative Events budget to sponsor the Christmas in the 
Cathedral. 
 

Motion: Board Member Froats moved to approve Resolution 2021-07-08 as presented  
Seconded: Board Member Gibbs seconded the motion 
 

Chairman Gillam called for discussion. 
Board Member Gibbs asked if this would effect the ice skating program. CEO Boyer responded that 
the ice skating program will not be possible this season. 
Jake Gordon, CEO of DVI, stated that the timing did not work out this time around but they are 
looking to incorporate the ice skating rink into future downtown programming. 
Chairman Gillam called for a vote. 

 
Vote:  Aye: 8  Nay: 0  Abstain: 0  

 
THE MOTION PASSED UNANIMOUSLY 8-0-0 
 
V. NEW BUSINESS  
 
None. 
 
VI. CEO INFORMATIONAL BRIEFING 
 
CEO Boyer provided an update on current DIA projects. 
 
A. Riverfront Plaza Design Award and Thematic Commonalities 
 
CEO Boyer gave a presentation on the Riverfront Plaza Design Competition, discussing the 
following: 

• Procurement process 
• Winning design 
• What happens next 
• Thematic commonatilities of the three finalists’ proposals 

 
Chairman Gillam opened the floor for discussion. 
Board Member Gibbs asked when does the project commence. CEO Boyer responded that the award 
has been received and a meeting could take place as early as next week to negotiate a design contract. 
That should take 45-60 days and it is expected that the design will be completed within 9 months. 
Board Member Adams expressed his support for the winning design. 
Board Member Citrano expressed his appreciation for the competing designs. 



Downtown Investment Authority 
DIA Meeting Minutes – Wednesday, July 29 – 2:46 p.m.   
Page 4 of 5  

Board Member Ward advocated for flexibility in the process and expressed his support. CEO Boyer 
reiterated that there is flexibility in the process and noted it has been recommended that they build 
the park first because it is likely it will raise the value of the development pad. 
Board Member Barakat stated that he agrees with that recommendation and expressed his support for 
the winning design. He urged the DIA to be bold and seek an authentic experience. 
CEO Boyer clarified for Board Member Froats that the design eliminates the curved roadway that 
bisects the site. Board Member Froats noted that the art structure can be viewed in a multitude of 
ways and apprecriated seeing the explanation behind the development of the art structure. He 
expressed his support for the project.  
 
B. DVI Legislation 
 
CEO Boyer provided a brief summary of the pending DVI legislation which provides the DIA and 
the Parks department with a mechanism to work more efficiently with DVI in regard to programming 
and a host of other services. 
 
C. Pending Before Council 
 
CEO Boyer provided an update on the following: 

 
I. Trio 
II. Johnson Commons 
III. Ambassador 
IV. Air Rights 
 

D. BID and CRA Update 
 
CEO Boyer provided the following updates: 

• Received approval for an extension of the Willdan market feasibility study. 
• Seeking an extension of the GAI contract. 
• Established a basic framework of what the design standard recommendations are going to be. 
• Expect a new round of stakeholder meetings and surveys for Task 3 branding efforts. 

 
Board Member Adams asked if the branding efforts will require further costs. CEO Boyer responded 
that it will not involve additional costs. 
 
VII. CHAIRMAN REPORT 
 
Chairman Gillam provided closing remarks and stated that he will be starting the Speakers Bureau to 
present DIA projects and efforts to the community and asked the Board to help him organize this 
initiative. 
Board Member Gibbs expressed his appreciation for the video presented at the previous DIA meeting 
and urged the Board to show it during their community engagements. 



Downtown Investment Authority 
DIA Meeting Minutes – Wednesday, July 29 – 2:46 p.m.   
Page 5 of 5  

 
VIII. ADJOURN  
 
ADJOURNMENT: There being no further business, Chairman Gillam adjourned the meeting at 3:39 
p.m. 
 

 
 

The written minutes for this meeting are only an overview of what was discussed.  For verbatim 
comments of this meeting, a recording is available upon request.  Please contact Xzavier Chisholm 

at xchisholm@coj.net to acquire a recording of the meeting. 
 

mailto:xchisholm@coj.net
mailto:xchisholm@coj.net


TAB IV.B 

RESOLUTION 2021-08-13: CRAIG GIBBS RECOGNITION AND APPRECIATION 



 
RESOLUTION 2021-08-13 

 
 
A RESOLUTION OF THE DOWNTOWN INVESTMENT AUTHORITY (“DIA”) IN 
RECOGNITION AND APPRECIATION OF MR. CRAIG GIBBS, ESQ., FOR HIS 
LEADERSHIP AS CHAIRPERSON OF THE DIA DURING THE 2019-2020 TERM; 
PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 
 
 
WHEREAS, Mr. Gibbs, Esq. was elected Chairperson of the Downtown Investment Authority 
in June of 2019 after serving the previous year as Vice Chair; and 
 
WHEREAS, Mr. Gibbs, Esq. led the DIA with a calm demeanor and trusted directive during the 
onset of the COVID 19 pandemic, and through his leadership the DIA continued as a model for 
transparency and public accessibility; and  
 
WHEREAS, as a Downtown business owner, attorney and Downtown expert, Mr. Gibbs was 
integral in guiding the development of the Northbank Downtown and Southside Community 
Redevelopment Area Plans and the Business Investment and Development Plans.   
 
 
NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the Downtown Investment Authority: 
 
 
Section 1. The Downtown Investment Authority recognizes the leadership of Mr. Craig Gibbs, 
Esq. during his tenure as Chairperson during the 2019-2020 term, and extends its deep 
appreciation for his service to Downtown.   
 
 
Section 2. This Resolution 2021-08-13 shall become effective on the date it is signed by the 
Chair of the DIA Board. 

 
 
 
 
WITNESS:      DOWNTOWN INVESTMENT AUTHORITY 
 
 
 
 
 
 
______________________            

Braxton Gillam, Chairman   Date 



TAB IV.C 

RESOLUTION 2021-08-14: RON MOODY RECOGNITION AND APPRECIATION 



RESOLUTION 2021-08-14 
 
 
A RESOLUTION OF THE DOWNTOWN INVESTMENT AUTHORITY (“DIA”) IN 
RECOGNITION AND APPRECIATION OF MR. RON MOODY FOR HIS 
LEADERSHIP AS CHAIRPERSON OF THE DIA DURING THE 2020-2021 TERM; 
PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE.  

 
 
WHEREAS, Mr. Moody was elected Chairperson of the Downtown Investment Authority in 

June of 2020 after serving the previous year as Vice Chair; and 
 
 
WHEREAS, Mr. Moody was elected Chairperson during the heart of the COVID 19 pandemic, 

and through his leadership DIA continued as a model for transparency and public accessibility; and  
 
 
WHEREAS, during Mr. Moody’s tenure as Chairperson the DIA leveraged performance based 

public incentives to induce $170,000,000 in private capital investment within Downtown. 
 
 
NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the Downtown Investment Authority: 
 
 
Section 1. The Downtown Investment Authority recognizes the leadership of Mr. Ron 

Moody during his tenure as Chairperson during the 2020-2021 term, and extends its deep appreciation 
for his service to Downtown.   

 
 
Section 2. This Resolution 2021-08-14 shall become effective on the date it is signed by the 

Chair of the DIA Board. 
 
 
 
WITNESS:      DOWNTOWN INVESTMENT AUTHORITY 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
______________________            

Braxton Gillam, Esq., Chairman  Date 


	20210818 DIA Board Meeting Agenda.pdf
	MEMBERS:

	20210818 DIA Board Meeting Agenda_Revised.pdf
	MEMBERS:

	Fuqua Staff Report for SIC 8-16-21 FINAL.pdf
	One Riverside Avenue
	Market Rate Multifamily REV Grant
	Grocer Anchored Shopping Center REV Grant
	Market Rate Multifamily REV Grant (Mixed-Use)
	Staff Report
	August 16, 2021
	Applicant: Fuqua Development (or related entity)
	Project: One Riverside Avenue; Residential, Retail, Mixed-use
	Program Request: Multifamily REV Grant
	Retail REV Grant
	Mixed-Use REV Grant
	Completion Grant
	Vacate City owned ROW and Easement
	Total Development Costs (as presented): $ 182,214,847
	Total Development Cost (as underwritten): $ 173,645,211
	REV Requested (75%, 20 years): Retail $ 3,302,517
	Multifamily $ 17,416,907
	Mixed-Use $ 8,874,736
	REV Recommended (75%, 20 years): Retail $ 2,757,711
	Multifamily $ 17,347,914
	Mixed-Use $ 8,313,544
	REV Amount (Not to exceed):  $ 28,419,169
	Completion Grant:  $ 1,719,320
	Vacated Property Values: Right-of-way $ 315,000
	Drainage Easement $ 230,000
	Mobility Fee Credit  U$ 160,651
	TOTAL COJ INCENTIVES PROPOSED  $ 30,844,140
	The Project
	One Riverside Avenue is a planned development that will include a grocer anchored retail component and  a multifamily development component in Phase 1 and a mixed-use (retail and residential) development component in Phase 2. The development site is l...
	Fuqua Development (“Fuqua” http://www.fuquadevelopment.com/) is under contract to acquire the approximately 18.34-acre site in its entirety. At closing, the City of Jacksonville would purchase approximately 4.9 acres on the east side of that Property ...
	Fuqua proposes to develop the remaining westerly portion of the Property, approximately 13.42 acres (9.19 upland and 4.24 submerged; the “Development Parcel”), in two phases. Phase 1 will provide an estimated 39,256 feet of retail (including a grocer ...
	Phase 2 will include two mixed-use buildings and provide an estimated 15,000 square feet of additional retail inclusive of a riverfront restaurant of not-less-than 5,000 square feet, and five stories of multi-family residential comprising approximatel...

	Porter House Mansion Staff Report for SIC 7-27-21.pdf
	DIA Downtown Preservation and Revitalization Program
	Staff Report
	Porter House Mansion
	510 Julia Street
	July 27, 2021
	Applicant:    JWB Real Estate Capital (“JWB”) or Assigns
	Project: Thomas V. Porter House
	Program Request: Downtown Preservation and Rehabilitation Program (“DPRP”)
	Total Development Costs (as submitted): $3,244,676
	Total Development Costs (as underwritten): $2,900,289
	DPRP Requested:
	1) Historic Preservation Restoration and Rehabilitation Forgivable Loan (HPRR) $   277,329
	2) Code Compliance Renovations Forgivable Loan (CCR) U$   274,819
	$   552,149
	DPRP Recommended:
	1) Historic Preservation Restoration and Rehabilitation Forgivable Loan (HPRR) $   277,186
	2) Code Compliance Renovations Forgivable Loan (CCR) U$   258,479
	$   535,666
	Photo Credit: JLL Valuation & Advisory Services, LLC, Appraisal dated July 29, 2020

	R 2021-08-12 Porter House Mansion.pdf
	A RESOLUTION OF THE DOWNTOWN INVESTMENT AUTHORITY (“DIA”) RECOMMENDING THAT CITY COUNCIL APPROVE A DOWNTOWN PRESERVATION AND REVITALIZATION PROGRAM FORGIVABLE LOAN PACKAGE  FOR RENOVATIONS TO THE THOMAS V. PORTER HOUSE BUILDING LOCATED AT 510 N JULIA ...

	R 2021-08-12 Porter House Mansion w Ex A Term Sheet.pdf
	A RESOLUTION OF THE DOWNTOWN INVESTMENT AUTHORITY (“DIA”) RECOMMENDING THAT CITY COUNCIL APPROVE A DOWNTOWN PRESERVATION AND REVITALIZATION PROGRAM FORGIVABLE LOAN PACKAGE  FOR RENOVATIONS TO THE THOMAS V. PORTER HOUSE BUILDING LOCATED AT 510 N JULIA ...

	Staff report 50 seat SRX 2021 - Watermark.pdf
	DIA Strategic Implementation Committee
	Staff Report
	Northbank CRA SRX license seating and service area reduction
	August 16, 2021

	20210818 DIA Board Meeting Agenda_Revised_2.pdf
	MEMBERS:




